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          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Good morning

          3  everyone.  I'd like to call this meeting of the

          4  Subcommittee on Zoning and Franchises to order.  We

          5  have two items on the agenda, one of which we will

          6  be taking a vote on, and that's the cable television

          7  franchise.  We are in the process of working out

          8  some very, very final details, and it's actually

          9  down to one or two words.  And we're just having

         10  those final negotiations going on now.  I

         11  anticipate, in the next 15 to 20 minutes having an

         12  agreement and then we will announce the amendments

         13  we've made to the resolution, and then take a vote.

         14                 In the meantime, we will proceed to

         15  the other item on the agenda, which is Resolution

         16  Number 141, which is a resolution to amend the text

         17  of the New York City zoning resolution to create

         18  industrial employment districts.

         19                 Before I call on the author of the

         20  bill to make his statement, let me just recognize my

         21  Committee Members that are here.  Council Members

         22  Dilan, Felder, Gioia, Katz, Seabrook, Sears, and

         23  Council Member Vann.

         24                 Council Member Katz.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you very
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          2  much, and I'm glad I could help fill up the time

          3  until we're ready to vote.  This is a good thing.

          4  And I also would like to thank all the folks that

          5  came here so early to testify on this topic of IED

          6  zones.

          7                 Let me start by saying that I believe

          8  that the Administration has done a relatively good

          9  job with the IBZ zones, when it comes to

         10  manufacturing zoning.  My problem is not with what

         11  the Administration has done, or the direction that

         12  they are going. My issue is that right now, in order

         13  to create manufacturing zones of these smaller type

         14  of low- density manufacturing zones, there has to be

         15  a Mayor's prerogative to do it.  My opinion, and I

         16  many of my colleagues  --  I believe there's 14

         17  Members or 11 Members that have joined this piece of

         18  legislation, is that truly, this should go through a

         19  process.  This should have to go, when you're

         20  creating these zones, a ULURP process, and that is

         21  for several reasons.  A, it allows the communities

         22  to testify.  It allows the community boards to be

         23  involved, the borough president's office to be

         24  involved, and the Council to be much more heavily

         25  involved in these rezonings.  B,  --  if I could
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          2  have some order in the room, that would be helpful

          3   --  B, I believe that we need, in order to move

          4  forward, some consistency.  And standards via the

          5  Administrations. In four years from now, the

          6  Administrations are going to change. There is term

          7  limits.  And after that, every eight years.  I don't

          8  believe that developers or folks in communities

          9  should be basically at the whim  --  and I don't

         10  mean that in a bad way  --  but basically at the

         11  policy or the whim of the Mayor or the

         12  Administration, in order to figure out whether a

         13  zoning is going to change or stay that way.

         14                 If we make it a zoning text change,

         15  and we make it as part of the process, then every

         16  time it changes, just like every other area in the

         17  City of New York that there is a zoning, it would

         18  have to go through the ULURP process.  It would have

         19  to come through the Council, and it would need

         20  community support, and it would need community

         21  involvement.

         22                 And that's where I am on this, and

         23  that's where many of my colleagues are here.  And

         24  I'm glad to see so many people testifying.  This

         25  would, just for specific purposes, be mapped as an
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          2  overlay in specific existing M- zoned areas, where

          3  there is a consensus to maintain the industrial

          4  character.  It would allow as of right

          5  manufacturing, warehousing, and related uses, but it

          6  requires special permits to superstores, hotels,

          7  municipal facilities.  And it would also allow

          8  housing and new development to move forward in

          9  adjacent areas.

         10                 So I know we look forward to hearing

         11  many folks testify on the issue.  I do believe this

         12  would be a very good step for the City of New York.

         13  I do believe this will enhance community involvement

         14  and Council involvement on so many important

         15  decisions and bring them forward.  And I also truly

         16  believe in manufacturing in the City of New York.  I

         17  think it is a good thing for our City. And it is a

         18  good thing for the economy, as we move forward.

         19                 So thank you Mr. Chairman.  I look

         20  forward to hearing the testimony.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.  The

         22  first panel will be representatives of the

         23  Administration.   Mark Foggin and Barry Dinerstein.

         24                 I only see one person up there.  But

         25  then I would appreciate your sitting at the dais.
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          2                 Please introduce yourself.

          3                 MR. DINERSTEIN: Barry Dinerstein,

          4  from the Department of City Planning.

          5                 MR. FOGGIN: Thank you Chairman

          6  Avella, Chairwoman Katz of the Land Use Committee,

          7  and Members of the Subcommittee for the opportunity

          8  to testify today on Resolution 141.  Thank you in

          9  particular for your kind words in support of

         10  manufacturing, the work that the Administration has

         11  been doing to support this important sector.  My

         12  name is Mark Foggin.  I am the Assistant Director of

         13  the Mayor's Office of Industrial and Manufacturing

         14  Businesses.

         15                 In January of 2005, Mayor Bloomberg

         16  announced the creation of our office, as he laid out

         17  the City's policy to support and grow industrial

         18  employment.  From day one, we have moved

         19  aggressively to implement a series of initiatives

         20  that address a range of challenges confronting our

         21  industrial firms.  The most significant challenge is

         22  helping to address the dearth of affordable space

         23  available to growing industrial firms so that they

         24  can expand here in New York City, instead of

         25  relocating to Long Island or New Jersey, or further
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          2  afield.

          3                 During our first 15 months in

          4  operation, we worked with many City agencies,

          5  including the Departments of City Planning, Housing,

          6  Preservation and Development, Small Business

          7  Services, Citywide Administrative Services, and the

          8  New York City Economic Development Corporation, to

          9  create 16 industrial business zones, also called

         10  IBZs, throughout New York City.  Chiefly, these are

         11  areas in which the City has committed not to support

         12  the rezoning of space to allow residential uses, one

         13  of the biggest factors driving up the costs of real

         14  estate for our industrial manufacturing firms.

         15                 Recognizing that it is not rezonings

         16  that increase residential uses in industrial areas,

         17  we have also worked with the Department of

         18  Buildings, to step up enforcement of zoning in IBZs,

         19  where illegal conversions have allowed residents to

         20  move in.  In the area with the greatest pressure

         21  perhaps, East Williamsburg, in Brooklyn, this has

         22  already resulted in seven stop- work orders being

         23  issued by DOB to halt apparently illegal

         24  conversions.  Citywide, 15 have been issued in IBZs.

         25    We continue to coordinate with DOB to further the
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          2  reach of this important enforcement function.

          3                 To address other business challenges

          4  faced by our industrial firms, the Department of

          5  Small Business Services has expanded its Business

          6  Solution Center model to industrial areas. To

          7  address our business challenges faced by industrial

          8  firms, the Department of Small Business Services has

          9  expanded its Business Solutions Center model to

         10  industrial areas.  SBS has contracted to local

         11  development corporations in each of the 16 IBZs to

         12  provide on- the- ground grass- root support to

         13  individual firms who need assistance on a range of

         14  issues, to improve their businesses. These include

         15  accessing financing in order to expand their

         16  operations; dealing with City regulations;

         17  networking with neighborhood firms who can help

         18  support their own products; or understanding how to

         19  take advantage of government incentive programs to

         20  expand their operations or implement more energy

         21  efficient equipment.

         22                 Regarding the last point, our office

         23  has worked with legislators in Albany in our first

         24  18 months, to significantly revamp the City's

         25  commercial expansion incentive program.  As

                                                            12

          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  originally structured, virtually no industrial firm

          3  was able to meet the eligibility requirements of

          4  this rich benefit.  That is no longer the case.

          5                 In addition, with the Council's

          6  support and joint funding last year, the

          7  Administration implemented a targeted grant to

          8  improve the energy- efficiency and reduce costs for

          9  industrial firms in North Brooklyn.  More than

         10  $400,000 has been committed to 19 firms who are in

         11  the process of upgrading their equipment as we

         12  speak.

         13                 The City is also increasing its stock

         14  of affordable industrial space available for

         15  development and use by our industrial firms.  Since

         16  the industrial policy was announced, EDC has closed

         17  deals or conditionally designated firms to develop

         18  over 1.5 million square feet of industrial space

         19  that will allow industry to retain over 1,500 jobs,

         20  and add more than 800 in the next several years.

         21  Another 1.1 million square feet of space will be

         22  awarded to an industrial developer by the end of

         23  this year. This is the Federal Building on Third

         24  Avenue in Sunset Park.

         25                 Recently, we have been working to
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          2  take better advantage of the significant benefits

          3  available to our industrial firms from the New York

          4  State Empire Zones Program.  Earlier this year,

          5  local administration of this program was transferred

          6  from SBS to our office.  As part of a change is

          7  State Law, municipalities, including New York City,

          8  are required to review and redesignate the Empire

          9  zone boundaries.  As some of you know, we have been

         10  working with your colleagues in those areas with

         11  Empire zones as well as members of the Economic

         12  Development Committee, including Council Member

         13  Vann, to obtain approval for those changes under

         14  Intro. 421. Working with stakeholders in each

         15  community, we have proposed adjusting the boundaries

         16  to overlap with IBZs, to the greatest extent

         17  possible, further cementing IBZs as places where our

         18  industrial and manufacturing firms can thrive.

         19                 In short, we believe that the

         20  Industrial Business Zones create important safe

         21  havens for our industrial and manufacturing firms,

         22  with a rich set of benefits and services, which we

         23  are proactively connecting businesses with, as we

         24  roll out the Industrial Business Solution Centers.

         25  We are further leveraging the advantages of being in
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          2  one of these zones by providing an  incentive to

          3  those firms looking to relocate, to enter into, or

          4  remain within an IBZ, by providing a $1,000 tax

          5  credit for full- time jobs for making that decision.

          6                 While we support the spirit of

          7  Resolution 141, we believe that IBZs will offer the

          8  same protection, as well as affording greater

          9  flexibility to make strategic land use decisions in

         10  particular areas of the City when required, to meet

         11  our overall best economic development interests.  We

         12  believe that it is premature to move toward more

         13  restrictive zoning measures.  Our office, in

         14  cooperation with EDC and the Departments of Small

         15  Business Services and City Planning, will continue

         16  to collect data and evaluate the IBZs and refine the

         17  City's industrial policy accordingly.

         18                 I'd be happy to answer any questions

         19  you have at this time.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         21  Katz.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Once again, good

         23  morning, and thank you for your testimony.

         24                 Can you go over, just for the record,

         25  exactly, internally, how an IBZ is, number one,
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          2  researched, chosen?  And then, who makes the final

          3  decision as to where they are?

          4                 MR. FOGGIN: Leading up to the

          5  designation of IBZs, which occurred on April 6th of

          6  this past year, we worked with internal group of

          7  agencies on the task force to identify those parts

          8  of the City which have the strongest, most cohesive

          9  industrial neighborhoods at this point.  And we

         10  identified 16 of them throughout the City.  We

         11  worked to balance the important and competing needs

         12  for space with other City agencies, including

         13  Housing, Preservation and Development, as well as

         14  Small Business Services, EDC, the Department of

         15  Buildings, and the Citywide Administrative Services.

         16    Many of the same agencies I mentioned earlier.

         17                 We then drew prospective boundaries

         18  around those areas, making sure they included active

         19  industrial uses, or areas that were ripe for

         20  industrial redevelopment.  And created a draft set

         21  of boundaries which we made public and invited

         22  public comment on for what wound up being a couple

         23  of months, leading up to their ratification by the

         24  Industrial Business Zone Commission, which was

         25  created by State law last Spring.  Or, I'm sorry,

                                                            16

          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  the previous Fall.

          3                 And in a public meeting, that

          4  Commission met to consider the boundaries, to take

          5  public testimony, and consider any changes that were

          6  made, and then ultimately promulgate them, I believe

          7  it's on April 6th of this past year.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And then  --

          9                 MR. FOGGIN: They also were shared

         10  during the public comment phase with community

         11  boards and borough presidents through a series of

         12  meetings that we conducted in each of the affected

         13  areas.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And when you say

         15   "we drew the lines", you mean this task force made

         16  up of representatives from the various agencies?

         17                 MR. FOGGIN: Correct.  We drafted a

         18  set of draft boundaries, based on again, looking at

         19  areas that were active industrial zones already.

         20  And again, it's worth I think, clarifying.  Our

         21  office does not advocate just on behalf of those

         22  industrial firms which are in IBZs.  About half of

         23  the land in New York City that's zoned for

         24  manufacturing within IBZs, there are a lot of

         25  industrial firms that fall outside of these areas.
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          2  In so far as what we're looking to do as part of the

          3  IBZ program, is to provide these on- the- ground

          4  services that I was telling you about through local

          5  development corporations, and Industrial Business

          6  Solution Centers, we were looking for areas of

          7  concentration where it made sense to leverage those

          8  activities.

          9                 All the existing programs that we

         10  provide also apply to those firms which are not

         11  within Industrial Business Zone boundaries.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And then once

         13  you drew the lines for public comments, what is the

         14  final step by which these zones were approved?

         15                 MR. FOGGIN: The Industrial Business

         16  Zone Commission met to review changes that were

         17  suggested through public testimony, and through

         18  staff of the  --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And they voted

         20   --

         21                 MR. FOGGIN: And they voted to support

         22  them.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And now, what is

         24  the process going forward, should the other half of

         25  these zoning areas decide --  I don't even know how

                                                            18

          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  it's decided, but the City looks at another area,

          3  decides it wants to be an IBZ zone, or on

          4  retrospect, in a few years, looks at what's already

          5  in the zone, and decides that needs to be amended.

          6  I guess, number one, how would it come to you?  And

          7  number two, what would be the structure by which it

          8  would go forward?

          9                 MR. FOGGIN: As I mentioned in my

         10  testimony, we're constantly looking at different

         11  indicators that will allow us to inform changes and

         12  make adjustments to the industrial policy.  We don't

         13    --  it's not a static policy.  You know, just as

         14  the economy is not a static activity.  We are

         15  constantly looking to rejigger and tweak what we're

         16  doing.  We've already added some additional

         17  components of our program that didn't exist before.

         18                 So as issues become  --  or as

         19  changes become apparent to us, and we believe that

         20  we can further improve the services that we deliver,

         21  we will make those changes.  We will seek to make

         22  changes as needed.  With specifically addressing

         23  your question about the process for that, the law

         24  that created the  -- the State law that created the

         25  Industrial Business Zone Commission provides for the
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          2  ability to call the Commission together again, and

          3  consider changes and take public testimony again, as

          4  they did the first time around.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And I guess  --

          6  purely an opinion now  --  question for you, is that

          7  you believe that provides enough standard and

          8  credibility and foresight, I guess, for people to

          9  know what's going to happen in that area?  In order

         10  to accommodate the business needs of the community?

         11                 MR. FOGGIN: I think it's important to

         12  point out that what we have done has made no changes

         13  in zoning.  So the zoning that existed before,

         14  exists now.  This is really a strong statement on

         15  behalf of this Administration, saying that we will

         16  not support residential uses in these areas.  So the

         17  zoning that existed before is what exists now, and I

         18  think developers you know, should understand that

         19  that's you know, the continuing, you know, is what

         20  continues in these areas.  So in terms of

         21  predictability, I think we haven't done  --  we've

         22  created more a more predictable environment for the

         23  manufacturing firms that are there.  So that they

         24  know that the City will not be supporting

         25  residential uses which tend to drive up costs
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          2  significantly, as they become a greater and greater

          3  presence within manufacturing areas.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I have been

          5  Chair of the Land Use Committee now for five years,

          6  and for better or for worse, the land use process is

          7  an extremely standardized and specific process. I

          8  think most developers know when something gets to

          9  the City Planning  --  you know, if they know what

         10  they're doing  --  when it gets to the City Planning

         11  Commission, it's about a year or two for the studies

         12  and all that, then it goes to the City Planning, and

         13  it does  --  and there is a specific path in which

         14  something follows.  And I guess my real question is

         15   --  and although I appreciate there's somewhat

         16  neutrality  --  I guess my real question is, why

         17  would it be a problem?  And when you look at

         18  something like this, and understand that this City

         19  is built upon predictability  --  I mean, developers

         20  need to know what's happening in an area.

         21  Manufacturing companies need to know that you know,

         22  if they put money and investments into the buildings

         23  and into their industry, that they're going to be

         24  able to stay.  And it's not going to be that someone

         25  woke up one morning, on the Mayor's side, and on you
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          2  know  --  and not have their local representative

          3  involved in the process.  So my question to you is,

          4  I guess, what is the City's position about what harm

          5  this would cause?

          6                 MR. FOGGIN: This meaning Resolution

          7  141?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: This meaning

          9  Resolution 141. This being having any changes like

         10  this become part of a definite, finite, standardized

         11  process.

         12                 MR. FOGGIN: One could still not

         13  change the zoning in any of these areas without

         14  going through a ULURP process.  So that --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Any change in

         16  the use.  I mean, you're changing something in it.

         17  The manufacturing area, the IBZ issues.  I mean  --

         18                 MR. FOGGIN: On the contrary I would

         19  say that you know, as it exists now, it's the same

         20  zoning that's there.  And so people understand

         21  what's allowed to happen in zoned districts based on

         22  the zoning resolution.  You know, there is  --  the

         23  Administration truly believes that the work that

         24  it's doing for the IBZ program will do more for the

         25  industrial community in the City than has happened

                                                            22

          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  in the last probably 30 or 35 years.  And it's still

          3  very early on in the process to understand what the

          4  benefits --  what benefits are going to firms at

          5  this point.  We've gotten some very positive

          6  feedback anecdotally.  We'd like to collect some

          7  data and see what the impact of what we're doing is

          8  before we explore, or even consider you know, more

          9  restrictive land uses.

         10                 We would like the ability, as an

         11  Administration, to have the flexibility to make

         12  strategic decisions in specific cases, where the

         13  Administration deems that it is in the City's best

         14  economic interest to be able to do something that's

         15  currently allowed under the manufacturing zoning.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: All right.  Mr.

         17  Chair, I think that I understand the City's

         18  position.  I'm not so sure that on the substance,

         19  we're that far apart.  I'd like to hear you know,

         20  what the industry has to say, but I think that, at

         21  least from my perspective, and for my colleagues to

         22  know, I think my perspective really is, that this is

         23  so important to the City of New York, that the City

         24  Council should have a strong and aggressive and

         25  really an involved say on how this proceeds as we
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          2  move forward.  And I don't believe that that exists

          3  right now.  Even if you guys are doing a perfect

          4  job, which I'm not  --  things happen, you know,

          5  it's all right.  I believe that the Council deserves

          6  a say in how this moves forward in our communities.

          7  And I believe that this resolution will give us that

          8  say.

          9                 I appreciate your testimony.  Thank

         10  you.

         11                 MR. FOGGIN: Thank you Councilwoman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

         13  Questions from Committee Members before we move to

         14  public testimony?  Council Member Sears.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         16  Just one.  Does the Administration feel that

         17  legislation would choke the development of the

         18  industrial areas by restricting it and not  -- and

         19  removing the flexibility?  Since we have lost so

         20  much of our industry?  And are looking to get it

         21  back?  Do you develop it when there are tight

         22  restrictions, rather than having some flexibility?

         23                 MR. FOGGIN: Yes, I think that this

         24  piece of legislation is something that the

         25  Administration is looking at. I think our take on
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          2  this is, we want to see how the IBZ program works.

          3  We are reinvigorating the nonprofit partners in all

          4  these IBZ areas.  We're providing more training.

          5  More staffing for those groups.  And I think our

          6  take on it is, let's wait and see how things

          7  develop.  Let's see if we really do have a problem

          8  in these districts or not.

          9                 The one thing I think we are

         10  committed to at this point, is opposing zoning

         11  changes that would permit residential in these

         12  areas.  We want to keep these areas as business

         13  areas, and that's I think the policy of the

         14  Administration.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: When you say,

         16   "Let's wait and see", are you placing some kind of

         17  a timeframe, approximately, on to what would be the

         18  criteria for deciding?  That flexibility is good, or

         19  that the City needs legislation?

         20                 MR. FOGGIN: I think we want to look

         21  at the employment  --  how employment works in these

         22  areas.  We want to -

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So that have

         24  you established the criteria for that?  Do you have

         25  the indices and how you're going to do that?
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          2                 MR. FOGGIN: We have collected

          3  baseline information in each of the industrial

          4  business zones.  Against which we'll be measuring

          5  changes periodically.  Probably year to year.  We

          6  can  -- we're trying to obtain data in a more timely

          7  fashion from the New York State Department of Labor

          8  right now, on a quarterly basis, to be able to look

          9  at.  It's a little harder to account for seasonal

         10  variations, but we're trying to look and see as fine

         11  a level as possible, how changes occur in each of

         12  these areas.  If for nothing else, because it helps

         13  us to understand better how these areas work, and

         14  how we can tailor services to them, having nothing

         15  to do with zoning, but just understanding sort of

         16  what the ebb and flow and the natural resonance of

         17  industrial employment are in these specific areas.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

         19  much.  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Any other

         21  questions from Committee Members?  With that,  --

         22  Council Member Katz.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Sorry.  Since

         24  we're still waiting, I figured  --  I guess, getting

         25  back to the consistency, and the way that the
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          2  offices work, right now  --  although I don't have

          3  specifics, I do know that City Planning is

          4  considering several rezonings.  The question really

          5  becomes then, if it's not a "rezoning", and you guys

          6  aren't changing the zone, what happens  -- what's

          7  the coordination between your office and City

          8  Planning, when they're working at changing some of

          9  the zonings, and how is it that this now protects

         10  the manufacturing zones that exist now?

         11                 MR. FOGGIN: I think I can say with

         12  reasonable assuredness, and Barry will correct me if

         13  I'm wrong, but the City Planning is not currently

         14  exploring any rezonings in any of the Industrial

         15  Business Zones that we set up.  And in fact, one of

         16  the reasons  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Sixteen.

         18                 MR. FOGGIN: In any of the 16.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: In any of the 16.

         20  And one of the reasons we coordinated with City

         21  Planning was to understand what current plans were,

         22  and to have those discussions early on.  As you

         23  know, rezoning is the province of the City Planning

         24  Commission and the City Council, and so anyone who

         25   --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I've heard.

          3                 MR. FOGGIN: Anyone can bring an

          4  action in any of these areas.  What we've said  --

          5  what the Administration has said --  is that they

          6  will not support, as an Administration, so meaning

          7  the Department of City Planning, through either

          8  support for private petitions or for community- wide

          9  rezonings, the use of residential in any of these

         10  areas.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And then in the

         12  other half of the manufacturing areas in the City

         13  that are not part of the IBZ zones?  Would City

         14  Planning coordinate with you also on those?

         15                 MR. FOGGIN: Certainly we would be

         16  involved in any discussions that are occurring in

         17  those areas.  Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you

         20  gentlemen.  We'll now move on  --  and since we

         21  don't have the language yet for the cable franchise

         22  resolution  --  we will move on to the public

         23  hearing testimony.  I will be calling people in

         24  terms of panels.  As far as I can see, everybody who

         25  has signed up to speak, is speaking in favor of the
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          2  resolution.  I will be timing everyone for three

          3  minutes.  As I always do, if you're trying to not

          4  repeat what the previous speakers said.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: It's a first

          6  time for me. Everybody is actually for it.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: First panel is Ed

          8  Ott, from the Central Labor Council; George Miranda,

          9  from the Teamsters Union; Adam Friedman, from the

         10  New York Industrial Retention Network; and Noel  --

         11  is it Labat?  From Ton Cat Bakery.

         12                 Can we get another chair up there?

         13  We're   --

         14                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Thank you.  Good

         15  morning.  I'm Adam Friedman, Director of the New

         16  York Industrial Retention Network, a Citywide

         17  economic development organization, that works with

         18  manufacturers to promote a diverse economy to

         19  provide employment and entrepreneurial opportunities

         20  for all New Yorkers.

         21                 My thanks to the Members of the

         22  Subcommittee, to its Chair, Tony Avella, and to

         23  Melinda Katz, the Chair of the Land Use Committee,

         24  and the sponsor of this resolution, for the time,

         25  energy, and support that they've put in to moving
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          2  this forward.

          3                 I think everyone who will testify

          4  this morning in support of this resolution, is pro-

          5  development.  Everyone agrees, the City needs more

          6  housing, more jobs, more stores, offices, and

          7  schools.  That's not the issue.  The issue is, how

          8  does the City get the most out of its scare

          9  resources, particularly its land. The issue should

         10  not be housing versus jobs, but how do we get

         11  housing and jobs.  What new land use tools does the

         12  City need to do a better job of planning for the

         13  extraordinary growth that's projected?

         14                 Critical to that debate is space for

         15  the City's approximately 230,000 industrial jobs,

         16  particularly manufacturing. Why?  Because average

         17  production wage in the City is about $44,000. That's

         18  more than $10,000 greater than wages in retailing

         19  and restaurant sectors, two other entry- level

         20  sectors often pointed to. Two- thirds of the

         21  manufacturing workforce is composed of immigrants.

         22  And 78 percent is people of color.  Clearly, we need

         23  to retain and create these jobs.

         24                 The proposed Industrial Employment

         25  Districts would help the City more finely tune
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          2  development so it could encourage new housing and

          3  new offices at the same time that it encourages

          4  industrial space and job creation.  IEDs would be a

          5  new type of zoning that would be mapped as an

          6  overlay in the City's existing most job- rich

          7  manufacturing zones.  Within and IED, incompatible

          8  uses, such as superstores, hotels, offices which are

          9  not part of a manufacturing operation, and waste

         10  transfer stations, would have to get a special

         11  permit from City Planning and the City Council.

         12                 This new zoning is necessary for

         13  several reasons. First, under the existing zoning,

         14  even if an area is zoned "M", and these incompatible

         15  uses are permitted as of right, and their potential

         16  has a deep stabilizing effect.  Requiring a special

         17  permit sends a signal to the market that these are

         18  industrial areas that dampen speculation.

         19                 You know, to address Council Member

         20  Sear's question, what chokes off job creation, I

         21  think it's uncertainty.  Because companies need to

         22  know they can invest with certainty.

         23                 Second, the special permit process

         24  creates the opportunity to look at critical issues

         25  related to jobs, and the impacts of these uses on
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          2  the surrounding neighborhoods.  For example, a

          3  superstore could still locate in an Industrial

          4  Employment District, but first it has to go to the

          5  community board, to City Planning, and to this

          6  Council to look at the issues.

          7                 Third, zoning has a known process for

          8  public and Council review.  And most importantly,

          9  for enforcement.  Zoning creates the longevity and

         10  the stability which are essential to job growth.

         11  Companies cannot invest unless they have some

         12  expectation that they can renew their leases.

         13                 The obvious place to start is the

         14  City's industrial parks, now called, "Industrial

         15  Business Zones".  In the words of the Mayor, the

         16  goal of the IBZ program is to create "safe havens"

         17  for industrial jobs.  The Mayor's position that land

         18  use stability is essential to job creation, is right

         19  on point.  And he has made that into a policy

         20  commitment for the IBZs.  But policy changes from

         21  one Administration to the next.  And even within a

         22  single Administration.  Reinforcing that policy

         23  through zoning, translates it into a legal

         24  commitment, which the company can literally go to a

         25  bank, because a lending officer is going to ask
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          2  about that.

          3                 This resolution was introduced before

          4  the IBZ program was implemented, and we'd like to

          5  work with the City Council on an amendment referring

          6  to the IBZs as the highest priority areas.

          7                 New York City offers competitive

          8  advantages that can lead to job creation in certain

          9  industries such as specialty foods, artisan

         10  furniture, and green manufacturing.  But without

         11  space for manufacturers to grow, New York will lose

         12  out on those employment opportunities.

         13                 As New York's population approaches

         14  the 9 million mark, it will need more planning, not

         15  less.  And Industrial Employment Districts are one

         16  of the new land use tools that the City will need so

         17  that the City's growth is equitable, and

         18  sustainable.

         19                 We look forward to working with the

         20  Council and the Administration to implement

         21  Industrial Employment Districts and to strengthening

         22  the City's industrial base.  Thank you.

         23                 MR. OTT: Good morning.  I'd like to

         24  thank Chairman Avella for having the hearing, and

         25  Council Member Katz, for introducing the resolution.
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          2    In an honest world, I would just say I agree with

          3  Council Member Katz, and go home, but we're not

          4  going to do that.

          5                 New York City has lost a substantial

          6  amount of manufacturing jobs over the last 25 years.

          7    Those manufacturers who have stayed in New York,

          8  and there are many, approximately 11,500, provide

          9  employment for over 230,000 New Yorkers.  And these

         10  are manufacturers that have found a niche market,

         11  and they have real growth potential, and they're

         12  committed to this City for the long haul.  These

         13  industrial jobs pay on average, over $43,000 in

         14  comparison to a retail sector that pays $31,000.

         15  And restaurant jobs pay $25,000 on average.  Workers

         16  in the manufacturing sector come from diverse

         17  backgrounds. Approximately 64 percent of the

         18  workforce are immigrants, and 78 percent of the

         19  workers in this sector are people of color.

         20                 Resolution 141 would add a level of

         21  protection and checks and balances in areas that are

         22  considered dense manufacturing, by a broad public

         23  consensus.  This protection would provide long- term

         24  real estate stability, allowing manufacturers within

         25  these districts to invest in real infrastructure and
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          2  help promote growth.  The resolution would also

          3  restrict incompatible development within these

          4  zones, such as superstores and office space.  And

          5  this notion of developing industrial infrastructure

          6  is going to change.  And we really need to think

          7  about that, because it's going to require serious

          8  investment.

          9                 We've been in a long- term fight.

         10  The first time I ever walked into City Hall was to

         11  testify on the preservation of industrial land, as

         12  opposing going to commercial, as of right.  It was

         13  the first time I ever stepped into this building for

         14  business. It's been a long- term fight, but we're

         15  going to miss out on potential new manufacturing.

         16  Nanotech.  When that hits, we're going to want

         17  places where those businesses can set up very

         18  quickly.  And develop the infrastructure to support

         19  them.

         20                 If this City wants to be competitive

         21  going forward in this century, we need to preserve

         22  this land.  So the development of industrial

         23  infrastructure become crucial to that discussion.

         24                 Our belief at the Central Labor

         25  Council is that by creating clear boundaries on
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          2  where the City allows and supports manufacturing you

          3  will, in turn, increase needed development, such as

          4  affordable housing in the surrounding areas.  We

          5  used to call them "working- class neighborhood".

          6  We've turned Manhattan into an international

          7  playground, except for Northern Manhattan.

          8                 The preservation of these kinds of

          9  jobs preserve cultures and communities, which are

         10  also very, very important.

         11                 This resolution is the first step in

         12  the right direction in helping to retain a much-

         13  needed industry for New York. The manufacturing

         14  sector is also the gateway to other industries, such

         15  as fashion, entertainment, and food, that are

         16  vitally important to our economy, and our ability to

         17  maintain the creative engine that gives our City its

         18  heart.

         19                 The theater industry is totally

         20  dependent on having some industrial zones where they

         21  draw their suppliers from.  The hotel industry.  The

         22  food industry in general is dependent on this

         23  industrial land and the communities that work in it.

         24    Vitally important to the character of this City.

         25                 Blue collar neighborhoods add a hell
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          2  of a lot more to the culture of this City than they

          3  ever get credit for, and we need to preserve it.

          4  Thank you for your time.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Ed, everybody

          6  knows who you are, but you didn't identify yourself

          7  for the record.

          8                 MR. OTT: Ed Ott.  Executive Director

          9  of the New York City Central Labor Council.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Remember, this is

         11  being recorded, so someone is going to transcribe

         12  this, and not know your voice.  Next please.

         13                 MR. MIRANDA: Thank you Avella and

         14  Zoning and Franchise Committee Members, for allowing

         15  me the opportunity to testify here today.

         16                 I am George Miranda, Principal

         17  Executive Officer of the International Brotherhood

         18  of Teamsters, Local 210, and Vice President of the

         19  120,000 members of Teamsters Joint Council 16.  I am

         20  testifying today to support Resolution 141, which

         21  would establish Industrial Employment Districts.

         22                 Over the last several years, the

         23  Teamsters have been unionized manufacturing

         24  companies forced to relocate, or be threatened with

         25  displacement, due to the instability of the real
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          2  estate market in historical industrial areas.  We

          3  have worked with the Administration and the New York

          4  Industrial Retention Network to assist these

          5  companies with relocation.  However, many will never

          6  find a home, and those that are lucky enough to find

          7  a place, will not invest in the needed

          8  infrastructure, equipment, or new production lines

          9  because of their uncertain future in our City. The

         10  creation of Industrial Employment Districts will

         11  provide a safety net for good, quality jobs and

         12  stand up employers who want to remain in New York

         13  City.

         14                 The intent of this resolution is to

         15  ensure that space will be available for continued

         16  use as manufacturing or industrial space in

         17  designated areas, where there is a broad consensus

         18  for manufacturing.  That is, the Administration's

         19  Industrial Business Zones.  The resolution will also

         20  help property owners and developers to distinguish

         21  what uses are permitted in these districts.

         22                 To give you and example of how this

         23  resolution will help our members, local 210

         24  represents over 200 employers and approximately

         25  11,000 members.  Just offhand, I could tell you that
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          2  at least 30 of the companies under 210's contract

          3  are currently located in Industrial Business Zones.

          4  These companies range from Atlantic Maintenance

          5  Corporation; Motty's Trucking, Inc.; Trademark

          6  Transport in Brooklyn; NYSCO Products, and S and S

          7  Soap Company, in the Bronx.  To Interstate Envelope,

          8  and Karp Associates in Maspeth; and Gratz

          9  Industries, and Sussman Automatic Corp, located in

         10  Long Island City.

         11                 In fact, the majority of teamster

         12  locals representing a manufacturing and industrial

         13  sector workforce.  I know the Ferrara Brothers, a

         14  concrete company represented by Local 282, will be

         15  here to testify today.  Another example is the Hunts

         16  Point Market, employing approximately 400 drivers

         17  and represented by Local 202, that would also be

         18  protected under this resolution.

         19                 I want to thank Council Member

         20  Melinda Katz, for her foresight in sponsoring such a

         21  piece of legislation, and I want to thank her fellow

         22  Council Members for their time and consideration. I

         23  also want to applaud the Mayor for his work in

         24  creating the Industrial Business Zones, and

         25  certainly hope that we can protect these areas for
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          2  generations to come.

          3                 I would urge the Administration to

          4  work with the Council, and continue to assist this

          5  sector and provide the necessary land use protection

          6  these companies require to continue and thrive.  And

          7  I thank you.

          8                 MR. LABAT- COMESS: Good morning.  My

          9  name is Noel Labat- Comess.  Thank you for asking me

         10  to testify this morning.  I am the founder and

         11  president of Tom Cat Bakery, Incorporated, located

         12  in New York City.  We are bakers of high- quality

         13  artisan breads and sweet goods, selling primarily to

         14  restaurants, hotels, and specialty food stores in

         15  the five boroughs.  We are a union shop, employing

         16  225 men and women, most of who live within the City

         17  limits.  Our silver trucks, with their unmistakable

         18  black and white Tom Cat logos are an integral part

         19  of New York Cityscape.

         20                 In 1987, I chose to locate my

         21  business in Long Island City for reasons that still

         22  hold true.  The rents are reasonable, despite being

         23  only one letter away from banking, baking is only a

         24  moderately profitable business that requires

         25  reasonable overhead costs to be successful.  There's
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          2  a ready, willing, and able workforce.  We are a

          3  labor- intensive business.  Transportation is

          4  readily available for our workers.  Trains and buses

          5  allow for an easy commute from everywhere in the

          6  City.  Our marketplace is readily accessible.  We

          7  deliver freshly baked breads and sweet goods to 600

          8  New York City customers twice a day, seven days a

          9  week.  Quick access to our customers is critical.

         10                 Since 1987, Tom Cat has grown

         11  steadily, and we intend to continue doing so.  In

         12  our 19 years, we have gone from three employees in

         13  1,300 square feet, to the present 225 in 40,000

         14  square feet.  In that time, we've never laid a

         15  worker off.  The jobs we provide are in the $22,000

         16  to $75,000 range.  These salaries, plus a generous

         17  benefits package include full employer paid health

         18  insurance, support individuals and families

         19  throughout the five boroughs  We are a union shop.

         20                 Recent zoning changes in Long Island

         21  City have turned our neighborhood from a sleepy

         22  backwater into a hotbed of speculation, pushing

         23  rents in the area high above the historical rates.

         24  While our particular block has not yet been rezoned,

         25  I strongly feel that current zoning restrictions
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          2  offer us very little protection from changes that

          3  will make it difficult or impossible to continue

          4  doing business where we are.

          5                 Unlike offices or warehouses,

          6  manufacturing facilities are capital- intensive in

          7  nature.  We have millions of dollars invested in the

          8  lease- hold improvements necessary to accommodate

          9  our businesses.  Picking up and moving is

         10  cripplingly (sic) expensive.  Choosing to relocate

         11  within New York City becomes absolutely prohibitive.

         12    Without stable real estate costs, and the zoning

         13  policy necessary to maintain industrial jobs that

         14  will continue to flee New York City, leaving working

         15  New Yorkers with fewer and fewer options for

         16  employment.  And the City itself the poorer for it.

         17  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         19  Katz.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Gentlemen, thank

         21  you for coming out and testifying, and we appreciate

         22  the time and effort that you all have given to the

         23  subject.  I think that there is a clear

         24  understanding by this Council that manufacturing

         25  jobs are a great part of the City of New York.  It
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          2  was what the City was founded upon, and continues to

          3  be an asset here.  And we're trying to protect that.

          4                 I would like to just ask, the

          5  Administration testified that I guess they need more

          6  time to fine tune, and to figure out, as we move

          7  forward, what else needs to be done.  And I guess in

          8  that context, I'd like to know, from your

          9  perspectives, what you think of that, number one.

         10  Whether you think it's necessary.  And also, what

         11  has been the success so far of what has been

         12  happening from the Administration's viewpoint, I

         13  guess of the IBZ zones?

         14                 MR. OTT: Well I think the IBZ Program

         15  is a tremendous step forward.  No one should deny

         16  that they've made a very important effort.  You

         17  know, the issue is, that there are certain loopholes

         18  that still exist, because of the nature of how an

         19   "M" zone is defined in New York City.  And those

         20  loopholes should be closed.  So should we close them

         21  now?  Should we close them a year from now?  I would

         22  argue against delay for at least two reasons.  You

         23  know, first of all, the clock is ticking right?  So

         24  why put these jobs at risk?

         25                 Recently, within the past four years,
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          2  the City has rezoned more than 19 million square

          3  feet of industrial space.  If you look at what's on

          4  the drawing boards, what's planned for in the

          5  immediate future, there's another 14 million square

          6  feet of industrial space that's involved in a

          7  rezoning action.

          8                 So if the City is going to move

          9  forward and continue to rezone existing industrial

         10  areas, there should be some effort to remediate, or

         11  some effort to strengthen those other areas  --  the

         12  areas that remain.  The areas that everyone seems to

         13  agree, should be kept industrial.  That's the first

         14  point.

         15                 And the second is, while the clock is

         16  also ticking on this Administration.  Yes, they're

         17  doing the right thing. They've done a very good job.

         18    So what happens a year from now? They begin the

         19  evaluation process.  Zoning changes are a long,

         20  long- term process.  And I would be very concerned

         21  that a year from now, they decide, we do need this

         22  Industrial Employment District to be reflected in

         23  zoning, oops, we didn't leave enough time.

         24                 MR. MIRANDA: Yes. I would agree.  I

         25  mean, the last 25- 30 years in the City, we just
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          2  watched industrial zones shrink and shrink.  And you

          3  know, let's face it.  We're trying to mitigate

          4  market impacts here.  This is a crucial moment.  We

          5  either draw the line, we define these districts and

          6  institutionalize them, so that everybody in the City

          7  who has development plans can adjust.  And if we

          8  miss this moment, we're going to be dealing with who

          9  knows what in the next Administration, and what

         10  their view is.

         11                 Frankly, this is the first

         12  Administration that's taken this question this

         13  serious.  Everybody else has just pretended.  So

         14  let's get it done.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I'd like to

         16  thank, especially you guys for coming down here

         17  today.  I think that two often, you know, land use,

         18  we sort of talk about these buildings, these

         19  developers, you know, these jobs, but I don't think

         20  that we actually quantify it enough on how it

         21  affects people's lives.  And I think that fact that

         22  it will  --  it affects hundreds of thousands of

         23  lives, of workers, who need the predictability to

         24  know that next year, their jobs are as safe as they

         25  are this year.  And if it isn't, they'll know that
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          2  the process allows them to have a particular role in

          3  that process.  I think it's very important.

          4                 And from what I'm hearing from you,

          5  and I see the Administration is still here, so I

          6  will just throw out, you know, a request that we all

          7  seem to think that this is good program.  We all

          8  seem to think that predictability is a good thing as

          9  well.  I would love it for the City to become

         10  partners as we move forward in this, since in the

         11  end, the substance of what happens will be the same,

         12  it's just simply that it will more consistent,

         13  they'll be more predictability, we'll be able to get

         14  rid of some of the loopholes when it comes to

         15  superstores, which I think most people will probably

         16  agree on, but we can, you know  --  and in the end,

         17  we also protect a lot of folks as we move forward,

         18  to make sure that these communities remain, and the

         19  manufacturing, which is vital to the City, remains.

         20  So hopefully, we will be able to work it out.  Thank

         21  you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Any other

         23  questions from Committee Members?  And then we'll go

         24  to the next panel.  Council Member Sears.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I know that
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          2  we've lost a lot of our industry.  Is there a  --

          3  and I'm not asking what the loss is  --  but if this

          4  happens, and the Administration would like to

          5  implement this, in addition to what they're already

          6  doing, do we have any idea just how we would fill

          7  that space in the period of time?  Or would we be

          8  left with empty zoning areas?

          9                 MR. FRIEDMAN: I'm happy to approach

         10  that.  Today's industrial areas are pretty packed.

         11  If you were to look at the industrial parks, the

         12  vacancy rate is consistently below five percent.

         13  The Brooklyn Navy Yard is full.  I think there's

         14  really very little industrial space that's vacant

         15  and available for development.  You know, as I tried

         16  to indicate, close to 34 million square feet of

         17  industrial space has already been rezoned, or is

         18  going to be rezoned in the near future.  So imaging

         19  all of that being pushed back onto the market.  To

         20  put that into perspective, I think the entire amount

         21  of industrial space inside the existing IBZs is

         22  around 90 million.  So a lot is already being

         23  consolidated. I don't think there's a lot of

         24  vacant,under- utilized industrial space at this

         25  point in time.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: All right.

          3  Thank you.  Thank you Mr. Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you

          5  gentlemen.  I appreciate your testimony.  We'll move

          6  on to the next panel.  Brad Lander, from the Pratt

          7  Center; Michael Rabinowitz, from UNITE HERE; Josh

          8  Mason, from the Working Families Party; and

          9  Catherine Barton, from DFB.

         10                 MR. LANDER: Chair Katz, Members of

         11  the Committee, than you very much for the

         12  opportunity to testify.  You're presented this

         13  morning with a great opportunity to help  --  I'm

         14  sorry.  I'm Brad Lander, from the Pratt Center for

         15  Community Development.  You're presented this

         16  morning with a wonderful opportunity to help New

         17  York City maintain a diverse economy and good jobs

         18  in manufacturing.  The Pratt Center, as many of you

         19  know, has been supportive of the City's rezoning

         20  efforts to create mixed use housing in neighborhoods

         21  around New York City.  But we're also deep believers

         22  in the importance of thoughtful comprehensive

         23  planning, to strengthen the City's industrial

         24  sector.  As you heard from the previous panel, I

         25  think all of you know, the manufacturing sectors is
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          2  both critical for maintaining a diverse economy,

          3  which is good for everyone, not just folks who work

          4  in manufacturing; and it creates good jobs for folks

          5  with limited education, limited English proficiency.

          6    You've heard a lot about that on the previous

          7  panel.

          8                 Back in 2000, the Pratt Center, along

          9  with the Municipal Arts Society and the New York

         10  Industrial Retention Network, prepared a

         11  comprehensive report that looked at manufacturing,

         12  land use, and zoning issues around the City.  And

         13  the two key findings in that report have since been

         14  affirmed and agreed to by the Bloomberg

         15  Administration, and the Council, which is really

         16  great.  I think first, we're no longer debating

         17  whether there's a critical role for manufacturing in

         18  the City's economy. We recognize what's gone and

         19  what's not coming back.  We also recognize that more

         20  than 11,000 firms, and more than 200,000 jobs that

         21  are here, and the way that they're centrally

         22  integrated into the current economy that we have,

         23  that they help us capture more benefits from an

         24  range of different parts of our existing economy, in

         25  fashion and food production, that we get more out of
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          2  exporting those, that would create jobs as a result,

          3  and we're not debating anymore, which is fantastic.

          4                 The other thing I think that there's

          5  real consensus on is that real estate, and

          6  speculative rising rents and conversions, are the

          7  primary barrier for manufacturers to have a strong

          8  place to be in New York City.

          9                 That there are other issues, that it

         10  is important to keep working on improving

         11  regulation, on providing incentives, on having the

         12  various programs that the Mayor's Office of

         13  Industrial Manufacturing Businesses has now

         14  launched.  We praise them and they're valuable, but

         15  I think there is real clarity that the key barrier

         16  is rising real estate costs, and conversions.  What

         17  manufacturers have consistently said is, we need

         18  predictability. We need to be able to sign a long-

         19  term lease.  We need to be able to get long- term

         20  financing, we need to know we're going to be around.

         21                 So we're pleased with that consensus,

         22  and we're pleased, very pleased with the creation of

         23  the Mayor's Office of Industrial Manufacturing

         24  Businesses.  And Industrial Business Zones.  At the

         25  same time, I think those efforts won't be able to
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          2  achieve their own goals without something like

          3  Industrial Employment Districts and today's

          4  legislation.  For really two key reasons.

          5                 First, to speculative developers, who

          6  think long term, a one Administration promise not to

          7  rezone is a pretty weak form of land use regulation.

          8    They know how to read the zoning resolution.  They

          9  know what's land use.  They know what's long- term

         10  policy.  And they know what's a short- term one

         11  Administration promise.  And they've got the

         12  investment ability to sit on property, and hope that

         13  something will change in the future.

         14                 And then second, in the mean time,

         15  growing retail office and hotel uses in those very

         16  zones both drive up rents on manufacturers, and

         17  erode the manufacturing of the zone, and making it

         18  only more likely in the future that a conversion

         19  will take place.  You can see this in not just Dutch

         20  Kills, Jamaica and Gowanus, which were mentioned,

         21  but in Sunset Park, while designated an Industrial

         22  Business Zone, the Garvin Report recently suggested

         23  that maybe it's a place to do housing.  And so

         24  owners there would be foolish if they didn't think

         25  maybe we should start looking at retail, condos,
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          2  hotel, condos, office.

          3                 What we've got to do is provide this

          4  predictability. And Industrial Employment Districts

          5  do just that.  I would urge you not only to adopt

          6  it, but also to map it right where the Industrial

          7  Business Zones are going to be.  We don't have to

          8  have another boundary spike, we just provided the

          9  additional protection that manufacturers really need

         10  to invest and stay in New York City for the long

         11  term.  Thank you so much for this opportunity.

         12                 MR. RABINOWITZ: Good morning Chair

         13  Avella, Chair Katz, Members of the Subcommittee.

         14  Thank you for the opportunity to testify before you

         15  today on Resolution 141.  My name is Michael

         16  Rabinowitz.  And I'm here representing UNITE HERE,

         17  a union of almost 80,000 members and retirees who

         18  live in New York City.  Many of these 80,000 people

         19  and their families have depended on good

         20  manufacturing jobs to pay the rent and put food on

         21  the table.

         22                 The issues raised by Resolution 141

         23  are not simply zoning issues.  This resolution is

         24  also about protecting people's jobs and their

         25  ability to support their families.  At Martin
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          2  Greenfield, a suit maker in Brooklyn, where UNITE

          3  HERE represents 150 workers, they earn decent wages,

          4  enjoy good benefits through their union employer.

          5  But manufacturing businesses like Martin Greenfield

          6  are threatened by global, national, and local

          7  pressures. On behalf of UNITE HERE's members, I ask

          8  you to support Resolution 141, and ensure that good

          9  manufacturing employers remain in New York.

         10                 We all know the global and national

         11  forces making it difficult for manufacturing workers

         12  here in the U.S.  Many jobs have left the region, or

         13  gone overseas in search of lower costs. Unfair trade

         14  agreements that have fostered a race to the bottom,

         15  have only increased the number of jobs leaving.

         16                 And yet, despite all these pressures,

         17  manufacturing remains a significant part of New York

         18  City's economy. Approximately 230,000 New Yorkers

         19  have good manufacturing jobs that allow them to

         20  support their families.  It would be tragic if

         21  companies and workers who continue to succeed

         22  against great odds, are ultimately threatened by

         23  local issues, that local government could deal with.

         24                 Many of you have spoken out bravely

         25  against the national problem, and by passing
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          2  Resolution 141, the Council would show that the City

          3  of New York is committed to preserving good jobs and

          4  the strong communities that those jobs bring.

          5                 We have reached a consensus about

          6  many areas of the City that ought to remain

          7  manufacturing areas.  Creating Industrial Employment

          8  Districts where new non- industrial developments

          9  would need to get a special permit, would help make

         10  sure that these dense manufacturing areas would not

         11  be subjected to speculation and displacement.  Small

         12  retail businesses and offices, and offices that are

         13  part of manufacturing operations would not be

         14  affected. And this proposal obviously wouldn't

         15  subsidize or protect particular firms, but would

         16  instead, create a level playing field where

         17  manufacturing businesses could compete and make sure

         18  that they can create the jobs that they want to.

         19                 With all the pressures making it

         20  harder for these workers to maintain their jobs,

         21  they need to have local government on their side.

         22  Minimizing the local difficulties faced by

         23  manufacturing companies.  Manufacturers that are

         24  withstanding the global and national pressures,

         25  should not be forced to face a hostile real estate
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          2  market locally, with dramatically rising rents and

          3  displacement.  By passing Resolution 141, the New

          4  York City Council can stand by these hard- working

          5  men and women.  And by creating Industrial

          6  Employment Districts, so can the Department of City

          7  Planning.

          8                 The Bloomberg Administration has

          9  indicated, through the Industrial Business Zone

         10  program, and its continued support of the Midtown

         11  Garment Center, that maintaining manufacturing is a

         12  priority.  Industrial Employment Districts are

         13  clearly compatible with the IBZ program and its

         14  goals, and would strengthen it by ensuring community

         15  and City Council input, and would ensure that the

         16  protections last beyond this Administration.

         17                 I would be remiss if I did not

         18  mention that creating Industrial Employment

         19  Districts is only the first step.  All of these

         20  initiatives to protect manufacturing, Industrial

         21  Employment Districts, IBZs, and the Garment Center,

         22  need to have effective enforcement if they are to

         23  protect our manufacturing industry.

         24                 Thank you again for the opportunity

         25  to testify.
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          2                 MR. MASON: Chairman Avella, Council

          3  Member Katz, other distinguished Members of the

          4  Council, thank you for allowing me to testify today

          5  in support of Resolution 141.

          6                 I am  --  my name is Josh Mason.  I

          7  am the Policy Director of the Working Families

          8  Party, New York City's third party --  leading third

          9  party, a community labor political party, that I

         10  think you're all familiar with.  Many of you have

         11  run on our ballot line.  Maybe most of you.  And you

         12  know that our core commitment is to good jobs for

         13  New York's working families.  We think Resolution

         14  141 is an important step towards that goal.

         15                 Rather than talk about the specifics

         16  of the bill, which I think other speakers have done

         17  a very good job at laying out, I'd like to just

         18  explain a little more Working Families Party

         19  interest in this.

         20                 Industrial retention is a long-

         21  standing concern for us at the WFP.  We've been here

         22  before you a number of times on related issues.  We

         23  were here in April, 2005 to testify on the Green

         24  Point- Williamsburg rezoning, which I think the

         25  result was much better than it would have been if
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          2  this body had not intervened in what the City had

          3  originally proposed.  We testified here in support

          4  of Intro. 242, that would have created a Business

          5  Relocation Fund, for displaced industrial

          6  businesses.  We testified here on the Hunters Point

          7  rezoning of the industrial areas there. We testified

          8  in support of giving this body the power to review

          9  variance decisions by the BSA in industrial zones,

         10  again, to preserve industrial employment here.  And

         11  those of you who have sought our endorsement, may

         12  recall answering questions on some of these issues.

         13  It's always been a factor that we look at.

         14                 There are several reasons that

         15  industrial retention is so important at the Working

         16  Families Party.  First of all, it's important to our

         17  affiliates.  Several of our affiliated unions, such

         18  as UNITE HERE, represented by my colleague Mike,

         19  represent large numbers of industrial workers.  And

         20  we stand with them 100 percent in their efforts to

         21  protect their members' jobs.

         22                 Secondly, industry is a powerful

         23  engine for job creation here in the City for working

         24  families.  It's true that industry today represents

         25  a relatively small fraction of City employment.  But
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          2  according the New York State Department of Labor,

          3  manufacturing has an employment multiplier of 3.04,

          4  meaning that for every manufacturing job created,

          5  two additional jobs are created in other sectors.

          6  Similarly, for every manufacturing job that we lose,

          7  we lose two jobs elsewhere in the City economy.  By

          8  contrast, many other industries, such as tourism,

          9  have much lower multipliers, where, for instance,

         10  leisure and hospitality creating one job only

         11  creates half an additional job in other sectors.

         12                 So clearly, we are going to get far

         13  less bang for our buck with economic development

         14  strategies that ignore the importance of industry

         15  and industrial retention.

         16                 Finally, industry is important to

         17  maintain a robust stable City economy.  In recent

         18  years, New York has become far too dependent on a

         19  handful of sectors, especially the so- called "fire

         20  industries", finance, insurance, and real estate.

         21  It's left us vulnerable to ups and downs in the

         22  stock market.  Just a few years ago, with the end of

         23  the dot.com bubble, we saw how easily and economic

         24  mono- culture can go from boom to bust.

         25                 A more diverse economic base that
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          2  includes a strong industrial sector will help us

          3  better weather the next financial downturn.

          4                 So again, I don't want to go into the

          5  details of this bill.  Suffice it to say that we

          6  have reviewed this bill.  We think it's a very

          7  positive step.  We think it will provide security

          8  for industrial businesses, to make the long- term

          9  capital investments they need to create jobs.  It

         10  will dampen speculation. It will discourage

         11  landlords in industrial areas from holding

         12  properties off the market, or signing only short-

         13  term leases in the hopes of a conversion.

         14                 And I did want to respond to one

         15  thing that the folks from the City said.  They said

         16  that this bill would reduce their flexibility.  From

         17  our point of view, that's a feature, not a bug.

         18  Flexibility for the City means insecurity for

         19  businesses in those zones, and we think that

         20  stability for the employers is more important than

         21  flexibility for the City.

         22                 So again, thanks for the opportunity

         23  to testify. And we encourage you to pass 141.

         24                 MS. BARTON: I'm from DFB.  My name is

         25  Catherine Barton, and I'm here to talk about the
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          2  good jobs.

          3                 DFB was honored as 2006 New York City

          4  Manufacturer of the Year, for our sustainable

          5  product development.  We manufacture and install

          6  green building products.  We've been making our

          7  vertical interior products in New York City for 60

          8  years.  Our solar shades, our wall systems are in

          9  the Bloomberg Building, Time Warner AOl, the Hurst

         10  Building, to name a few of our more visible

         11  projects.

         12                 We could not have achieved these

         13  benchmarks without the support of over 100 people

         14  who come to work at DFB in Long Island City every

         15  day.  DFB is proudly affiliated with four labor

         16  unions.  Our union standing is very important to us

         17  at DFB, because we believe that it levels the

         18  playing field, and that we are awarded projects and

         19  contracts based on the merits of our products, and

         20  not because we are under- cutting the workforce.

         21  It's one of the reasons that we can prosper, by

         22  producing in New York City.

         23                 Industrial Employment Districts,

         24  IEDs, are an opportunity to protect our 100 plus

         25  employees, along with the hundreds of thousands of
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          2  jobs in manufacturing and industrial businesses in

          3  New York City.  We need space for jobs.  We need

          4  space for manufacturing.  We need space to do

          5  business here in New York City.  Our primary

          6  facility, which we own, is supplemented by

          7  additional manufacturing space, which we have

          8  recently rented.  We know that the growth that we

          9  are experiencing will require us to need more space,

         10  and we were fortunate to be able to obtain it right

         11  across the street in our industrial community.

         12  Access to industrial space is a necessary resource

         13  that cannot be eliminated, and we need, and want to

         14  believe that investing our resources in Long Island

         15  City is a safe and smart business decision.

         16                 DFB was encouraged by the

         17  implementation of the Industrial Business Zones,

         18  because we felt that they defined our industrial

         19  borders.  We urge you to take it to the next step,

         20  and make this a permanent and enforceable piece of

         21  legislation, that will protect industrialism in

         22  future Administrations.  We're fortunate to have a

         23  Mayor and Council Members such as Melinda Katz, who

         24  understand the needs of industrialism, and are

         25  committed to protecting these jobs and our
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          2  businesses.  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.  We're

          4  going to take --  interrupt the public testimony on

          5  141 for a few minutes.  We're going to go back to

          6  the cable franchise resolution, asking the Members

          7  of the Committee to come back into the room.  Some

          8  of them are next door for the Education Committee.

          9  And we will be taking a vote.

         10                 Thank you.  Now, as you know, the

         11  City Council Land Use staff and the Administration

         12  and the industry have been working very hard on Land

         13  Use Number 197, which is a resolution authorizing

         14  franchises for cable television services.  In

         15  addition to the resolution that has already been

         16  brought forth, we have reached an agreement on two

         17  additional amendments, which I shall read into the

         18  record, and then I will ask for Committee Members if

         19  they have any comments, and then we will call for

         20  the vote.

         21                 First amendment is adding a Section

         22  20.  All franchises shall be subject to comparable

         23  obligations and requirements provided that, where

         24  the imposition of such obligations and requirements

         25  would be duplicative, then alternative but
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          2  comparable obligations or requirements shall be

          3  imposed. Basically, that language levels the playing

          4  field, which everybody testified in favor of.

          5                 Then they'll be a Section 21, which

          6  will say, There shall be provisions requiring

          7  capacity and support for public education and

          8  governmental access.  This is language that

          9  everybody has agreed on to support public access

         10  channels.

         11                 Now those are the two amendments to

         12  the resolution. In addition, there are a number of

         13  issues that were brought up that we, on this

         14  Committee and the Council, still feel strongly

         15  about, but will not be taken up in the resolution,

         16  but are for further discussions to work with the

         17  industry and the Administration.  One of which is

         18  obviously, the build- out, to make sure that

         19  whatever happens, whoever gets a franchise, does it

         20  equally in all neighborhoods throughout the entire

         21  City at the same time.

         22                 There was also an issue brought to

         23  the attention of the Committee about prevailing

         24  wage.  There are provisions in here already, but one

         25  of the issues that was brought up had to do with the
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          2  work that is done from the street line into

          3  individual houses. That is an issue that can't be

          4  taken up in this resolution.  But I think the unions

          5  that testified brought up legitimate concerns, and

          6  that's an issue that we're going to look at

          7  separately.

          8                 With that, Chair recommends approval

          9  of the resolution.  I'm certainly  --  if Council

         10  Members want to comment. Council Member Katz.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you very

         12  much.  And I do --  I just want to thank the staff,

         13  and also the industry, for all the hard work that

         14  they've put into the resolution as well.  I would

         15  like to say that I love the changes.  I think that's

         16  a great thing.  I think PEGs are extremely

         17  important.  It became so much more evident, the

         18  hearing that you had last week.

         19                 And also, the word "comparable" into

         20  the resolution. I guess  --  what I'd like to do is

         21  really just throw out to the Administration  --  and

         22  I know that we've had this discussion plenty of

         23  times  --  when the RFP --  I know it's already

         24  being written, I get it.  But as we move forward, I

         25  request once again, that the City really, in more
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          2  detail in the RFP, know exactly what they would like

          3  to see when it comes back.  The industry has already

          4  been in the streets for years.  This triple play,

          5  phone, cable and Internet, has already been out

          6  there for many years.  We know what we expect of our

          7  industries that hope to lay cable and hope to enter

          8   --  and hope to continue doing business in the City

          9  of New York.

         10                 So I would once again throw that out.

         11    I think comparable is an extremely good compromise

         12  between some of the industry that might have wanted

         13  identical, some of it might have wanted less than

         14  comparable.  I do believe it's a good compromise.

         15  And I know that the City will hopefully write this

         16  in a way that the PFC will in the end, determine

         17  that it is a level playing field.

         18                 The other issue, I guess, as I do

         19  want the competition to come in, and I think that's

         20  great for industries that are not laid yet in our

         21  City, the cable is not laid yet in our City, I would

         22  like to also tag on what you said, which is the

         23  build- out is extremely important.  If this

         24  Administration does decide that it's going to be

         25  Citywide competition by one organization, there
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          2  needs to be something in the RFP and in the

          3  response, to make sure that the build- out is fair,

          4  that it's in every single community.  And that we

          5  have a way of enforcing that, as we move forward.

          6                 So I just wanted to throw those

          7  things out.  I think this is a great example of

          8  everybody working together for clearly a beneficial

          9  end for the entire City of New York and the folks

         10  that we represent.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         12  McMahon.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Mr. Chair,

         14  just briefly, if you could  --  and I know it was

         15  discussed at the last hearing and we're giving it

         16  sharp, but I would prefer that it be part of this

         17  record as we vote  --  lay out for us the process

         18  that goes from here to the point where this comes

         19  back to us and this actually becomes a done deal.

         20  It doesn't come back to us, but what happens after

         21  this vote?  What happens from now until the point

         22  that this actually  --  these franchises are

         23  awarded?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Well,

         25  unfortunately, I mean you bring up a good point and
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          2  we've mentioned it before, and I've mentioned it

          3  before.  That once we vote on this authorizing

          4  resolution, it does not come back to us in any shape

          5  or form.  You may remember, I've mentioned it

          6  before, that I've introduced legislation that would

          7  amend the procedures so that once a franchisee is

          8  chosen by the Administration, before it's actually

          9  finally approved, I believe by the concession of

         10  review committee, that it come back to us to make

         11  sure that the Administration has put into a contract

         12  what we wanted.  And it hasn't been substantially

         13  changed.

         14                 The Administration will issue an RFP.

         15    Review the RFPs, and then pick whomever they

         16  choose to have a franchise.  And them this of

         17  course, is in conjunction with the renewals at the

         18  same time, that will be going on.  So we could have

         19  the renewals of Time Warner and Cablevision at the

         20  same time the City could be allowing franchises for

         21  Citywide companies, such as Verizon, which we

         22  understand wants to apply for Citywide.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: All right,

         24  but the prescriptions that we're including in our

         25  authorizing resolution today, are they binding?
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          2  Must they be in the final RFP?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: But we have

          5  no input if that doesn't happen.  And apparently,

          6  that has been the case.  And I'm looking for our  --

          7    I mean, has that ever happened before?   Where we

          8  put something in the resolution and the

          9  Administration hasn't necessarily followed it

         10  immediately.

         11                 Go ahead.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: The authorize

         13  resolution is really the criteria by which the City

         14  needs to issue these RFPs. They are  --  they have

         15  to look at the authorizing resolution and put it in.

         16    Unfortunately, there has been lawsuits that it's

         17  come --  that the City has argued, and the Council

         18  has argued that we should get a say in the final

         19  contract that actually goes out, since we did the

         20  authorizing resolution.  It has been proven in a

         21  court of law that that is not the law.  Which is why

         22  I was so specific in my comments as to what I would

         23  like the Administration to see, because as everyone

         24   --  everybody needs to come back.

         25                 But, if they don't listen to us, I
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          2  believe the only real response is a lawsuit I guess,

          3  at some point, and I think private action at that

          4  point.  If I'm not mistaken.

          5                 Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: And

          7  historically, has this in prior Administrations,

          8  adhered to the terms and conditions in City Council

          9  authorizing resolutions?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Counsel is

         11  telling me "yes".

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Thank you for

         13  the clarification.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And in addition,

         15  Mr. Chair, I mean, we've been working with the

         16  Administration also.  I mean, as we've  --  in the

         17  past few months.  It hasn't been just us working and

         18  them working.  I mean, we have had a dialogue that

         19  has been open and responsive.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: I don't mean

         21  to infer that I don't trust the Administration on

         22  this.  But you know, these things take a long time,

         23  as we saw with the street furniture.  So it might be

         24  a new Administration.  I'm just curious as to how

         25  binding our specific directives are in this RFP
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          2  process.  But thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: It should be, is

          4  the answer. And at least with this Administration,

          5  it has been.  Council Member Vann.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Yes Chairman.

          7  At what point does the Public Service Commission

          8  agree, disagree, authorize support of what comes out

          9  of the City Administration?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I'm actually

         11  going to ask Counsel to answer that.

         12                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: It's at the end of

         13  the process. After the FCRC makes sure that the

         14  terms of the franchise comport with the terms of the

         15  authorizing resolution, it goes to the Public

         16  Service Commission.  And they certify it.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Historically,

         18  they have certified without amendment?

         19                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Our franchises?  I

         20  couldn't really speak to that.  To the best of my

         21  knowledge, the New York City ones, they have.  I

         22  know that they've changed other ones, but I'm not

         23  the expert on that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Thank you.

         25  Okay.  You will be after this, right?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

          3  Seabrook.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Yes, just

          5  the concern that I had, as it relates to this

          6  resolution.  How has the issue of what this Council

          7  voted on to have as a part of the affirmative action

          8  and minority and women owned business component,

          9  that's going to be addressed in this franchise et

         10  cetera?  Because now that it's a part of the City's

         11  law and statue (sic).  How is that going to play

         12  into this resolution that we're dealing with?  And

         13  this franchise granting?  Is that going to be a part

         14  of living up to that standard?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I mean, there's

         16  terms in the resolution that any franchisee must

         17  adhere to all City laws.  So that whatever we put

         18  into place about minority business or for that

         19  matter prevailing wage, they must adhere to.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Okay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         22  Felder.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         24  much.  Outside of the resolution, since I'm sure

         25  there are people from the Administration here, I
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          2  think that it's important to remind the

          3  Administration that the Minority Leader, James Oddo,

          4  has one bill, I have another bill, and I think there

          5  may even be a third bill about the component about

          6  when franchises, cable companies, as well as

          7  utilities, dig up the streets, and they don't repair

          8  them properly, and that's destroying the City.  I

          9  mean despite the fact that there's a law that 18

         10  months within, if there's a problem, you call them

         11  up.  But we know what's going on.  The City can come

         12  along, pave 20 blocks, and then two days after

         13  they're done, whoever it may be, whether it's ConEd

         14  or the cable companies, they come in, they dig up a

         15  little hole, patch it up, and that's the beginning

         16  of the erosion of the entire street.  And the bills

         17  that we're talking about, would compel both the

         18  utility companies, cable companies, as well as

         19  developers, that when they do that, to patch it from

         20  sidewalk to sidewalk, and be held responsible, not

         21  for 18 months, but rather, till the time the City

         22  would normally repave the entire street, which is

         23  about a five to six year time period.

         24                 So for the cable companies, if you

         25  plan on charging more money to get that done, then
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          2  put that into your budgets.  Too bad.  We must keep

          3  the City streets good.  The City just can't keep up

          4  at the pace that the streets are being destroyed.

          5  And in terms of the City itself, I'm just suggesting

          6  that the Administration, when they come up with the

          7  details, this should be part of it, because the

          8  Administration, maybe rightfully, always says that

          9  you know, that we are over- regulating you know, we

         10  keep on coming up with new laws and regulations that

         11  can normally should be part of the way the City runs

         12  the City without having to make laws.

         13                 Well here's a great opportunity.  In

         14  the RFPs, and in other things that are done, this

         15  should be included so that the City's streets remain

         16  well  --  remain in good shape without having to go

         17  through the things we go through today.  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.  Any

         19  other comments? I'll ask Counsel to call the vote.

         20  Again, Chair recommends approval.  From my

         21  perspective, just simply, this is really a consumer

         22  bill.  It will open up competition and hopefully,

         23  hopefully, increase better customer service and

         24  lower cable rates.

         25                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Chairman Avella.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Aye.

          3                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

          4  Dilan.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: I vote aye.

          6                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

          7  Felder.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Aye.

          9                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

         10  Gioia.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I vote yes.

         12                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

         13  Jackson.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Aye.

         15                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

         16  Katz.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Aye.

         18                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

         19  McMahon.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: With just

         21  briefly, Mr. Chairman to give kudos to you, your

         22  Committee, the Land Use staff here at the City

         23  Council, and everyone who was involved with this.

         24  The industry, major corporations, the advocates for

         25  the consumers, the advocates for the industries.
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          2  This was really a lesson in how government should

          3  work.  And the end result I think will be something

          4  for the people I represent in Staten Island.  Better

          5  service, a cheaper service, and the ability to bring

          6  technology into the low- income portions of the City

          7  at better rates, I think is a good thing for all New

          8  Yorkers, and I just commend everybody.

          9                 And I vote aye.

         10                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

         11  Seabrook.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: I'd like to

         13  explain my vote.  Mr. Chairman, you certainly should

         14  be commended for the work and the staff that have

         15  put in place here.  But I think it's also, in light

         16  of the Mayor's look at how to address and deal with

         17  poverty in this City, and that we're talking about

         18  granting franchises now, and a tremendous amount of

         19  monies in a City that is predominantly minority,

         20  that overwhelmingly spends a lot of money in this

         21  industry, that I hope that this industry will begin

         22  to reflect not only in the hiring patterns, but also

         23  in a meaningful way of a partnership, that would

         24  allow participation within this City of those who

         25  have actually been shut out of this industry,
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          2  through a tremendous opportunity to lift them up and

          3  allow a direct impact on poverty in this City.  And

          4  this is a golden opportunity to do that.  So I would

          5  hope that they can take the initiative to do that.

          6  And I vote aye.

          7                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

          8  Sears

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Permission to

         10  explain my vote. Before I vote yes, I just want to

         11  thank the Chair, because this has been a long

         12  process, and I go back to the hearing, when it

         13  lasted all day.  And we owe you and the staff a

         14  great deal of thanks.  It also shows that the

         15  Administration and the Council have not lost their

         16  art of compromise, and I think this today shows

         17  that.  So congratulations to everyone.  And I vote

         18  aye.

         19                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

         20  Vann.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Yes, I'd like to

         22  ditto the remarks of Councilman McMahon.  Make it

         23  more applicable to Brooklyn.  Ditto Councilman

         24  Seabrook.  Councilwoman Sears.  And I vote aye.

         25                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: By a vote of ten
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          2  in the affirmative, none in the negative, and no

          3  abstentions, the item passes to full Land Use

          4  Committee.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Very good.  We

          6  will  --  those that are here from the industry may

          7  now leave.  I know you want to. And then we will

          8  proceed back with the public hearing on 141.

          9                 The next panel on 141 is Leah

         10  Archibald, from ITAC; Ken Barwick, from the

         11  Municipal Arts Society; Phaedra Thomas, from

         12  Southwest Brooklyn IDC; Ernie Smith, from Penn and

         13  Fletcher.

         14                 MS. ARCHIBALD: I should get started

         15  with the mike on.  All right.  My name is Leah

         16  Archibald.  I'm the Communications Director for the

         17  Industrial Technology Assistance Corporation.  And

         18  I'm here to support the concept of Industrial

         19  Business Zones, which ITAC believe will help

         20  industrial firms grow in New York City.

         21                 Manufacturers in New York City face a

         22  host of challenges in the global and national

         23  marketplace.  Labor costs are very high, as are real

         24  estate costs.  Many New York City manufacturers are

         25  tenants that rent their space.  This isn't the case
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          2  in the rest of the U.S., where manufacturers

          3  generally own their own facility.  This hampers New

          4  York City manufacturers ability to plan for the

          5  future, and requires them to really optimize their

          6  use of real estate, to ensure the highest levels of

          7  productivity.  Most importantly, with ever-

          8  increasing land values, tenant manufacturing firms

          9  can become dislodged, as landlords raise rents

         10  speculatively, or to realize market opportunities.

         11                 Recently, my colleagues and I have

         12  noticed a very steep increase in the number of

         13  healthy, growing firms that we work with, with our

         14  experiencing difficulties with real estate.  Some

         15  are losing their current space, others are growing,

         16  and they're unable to find sufficient space to grow

         17  within the City.

         18                 We're concerned that as the supply of

         19  industrial real estate shrinks, the ability for

         20  thriving firms to grow and stay located in New York

         21  City will become imperiled.  Industrial Employment

         22  Districts would improve upon the current Industrial

         23  Business Zones, by adding land use protections to

         24  the host of IBZ business services, thereby reducing

         25  real estate speculation, and the subsequent
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          2  displacement of these important businesses.

          3                 ITAC recently completed a

          4  MoveSmart/StayLean initiative targeted to help

          5  displaced firms in North Brooklyn.  And I know our

          6  client and friend Bob Friedman, from NULUX, may tell

          7  you a little bit about his issues, being a

          8  dislocated firm.  This initiative was spectacularly

          9  successful.  ITAC met with over 40 firms in North

         10  Brooklyn, Community Board One.  We engaged in

         11  assessments and workshops with 15 of them, and then

         12  engaged in in- depth process improvements with 12 of

         13  these firms.  The entire $200,000 relocation

         14  assistance grant was spoken for in six weeks. This

         15  is a striking illustration of the number of

         16  businesses considering relocation in a single

         17  neighborhood.  We received $300,000 in funding from

         18  the City Council  --  thank you very much. We deeply

         19  appreciate it  --  to launch this program Citywide.

         20  We anticipate that it too, will be spent very

         21  quickly by businesses that are forced to relocate,

         22  due to increasing rents driven upward by

         23  gentrification and other speculative real estate

         24  practices.

         25                 As an advocate for New York City
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          2  manufacturers, I believe that this program can help

          3  provide industrial and manufacturing firms with

          4  locational stability, and encourage them to make

          5  long- term investments to start and expand their

          6  businesses in New York City.

          7                 I am pleased to support the

          8  initiative, and look forward to working in concert

          9  with the City and my economic development

         10  colleagues, in New York City's 7,300 manufacturing

         11  businesses, to help grow the quantity and quality of

         12  jobs here in our communities.

         13                 MR. BARWICK: Thank you.  Good

         14  morning.  My name is Ken Barwick.  And I'm the

         15  President of the Municipal Art Society. And since

         16  we're here in support of 141, since a number of

         17  points have been made, I just want to make a couple

         18  of points departing from the written testimony.

         19                 First of all, thank you Mr. Chairman,

         20  and thank you Council Member Katz for your

         21  leadership in this issue.  We've come a long way  --

         22    I guess it's been six years since Mayor Giuliani

         23  announced that manufacturing was dead.  And so

         24  congratulations to you, and congratulations to the

         25  Bloomberg Administration for picking things up.
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          2                 We did a study that has been

          3  referenced a couple of times, in 2000, with a number

          4  of partners, paid for by the Sloan Foundation, and

          5  we're very glad that the results of that study and

          6  the City's own study later on, reaffirmed what I

          7  think has come out today, and I think you're very

          8  aware of, that most of New York's manufacturers  --

          9  I wish there was another name besides

         10   "manufacturers, or industry" for something I'll say

         11  in a minute. But they're small, they're mid- sized.

         12  They are interconnected. They're both the source of

         13  jobs themselves, but they're interconnected in ways

         14  I don't think are totally clear, with the industries

         15  that mostly get all the attention, the so- called

         16  fire industries.  So that it's essential to the

         17  industries that the City would do anything to keep,

         18  to have these access.  And there's a term that we've

         19  come up with a few years ago, that I think is pretty

         20  good for this, which is the silent partners.  And if

         21  there's a big meeting this morning at Morgan

         22  Stanley, probably everything prior to the meeting,

         23  you know, the putting together the Powerpoint

         24  presentation, the baking of the doughnuts, almost

         25  everything happened in the zones that we're talking
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          2  about.  Even those big financial service industries

          3  couldn't survive.  Unlike multi nationals, our

          4  manufacturers don't get major incentives to stay.

          5  They don't attract tax cuts for expanding.  They

          6  don't attract a lot of attention.  In fact, what has

          7  been unsaid, but everybody knows, is that small

          8  business in New York, is that they're subject to a

          9  lot of repetitive harassment and all kinds of

         10  issues, from parking, to multiple inspections by

         11  State and local inspectors, on all kinds of

         12  environmental issues, which they're not really

         13  staffed or equipped to handle.

         14                 So it's a Cinderella part of our

         15  economy, which makes what you're proposing to do

         16  here, I think, so very significant.

         17                 We not only want to protect the

         18  manufacturing industries and silent partners we

         19  have, we want to enhance the possibility that that

         20  will grow.  We believe that it will grow. There are

         21  a lot of unknown portions of our economy.  Take the

         22  port. The port will probably go with three or four

         23  times in the next 20 years.  That's going to have an

         24  uncalculated but wonderful multiplier effect on the

         25  kind of industries we're talking about.
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          2                 So to get to the point, incentives

          3  without zoning are not enough to protect the jobs

          4  and industry.  Nor is zoning that isn't enforced

          5  enough.  So that's where we're very committed. We're

          6  very supportive of your ideas that we need to

          7  resolve and make predictable the incentives and the

          8  zoning and the restrictions that are being

          9  contemplated.

         10                 I know the Administration has asked

         11  for more time, and more flexibility.  We think that

         12  the essence of the zoning resolution is to provide

         13  predictability, both to manufacturers, the builders

         14  of housing, the building of commerce, so we hope you

         15  will move forward with this.  And thank you for your

         16  attention to it.

         17                 MS. THOMAS: Good morning.  My name is

         18  Phaedra Thomas.  I'm the Executive Director of the

         19  Southwest Brooklyn Industrial Development

         20  Corporation.  And we manage the Industrial Business

         21  Zone and Empire Zones in Sunset Park, Red Hook, and

         22  Gowanus.  We represent over 2,000 companies

         23  employing well over 30,000 people.  I, too, am going

         24  to divert from my written testimony here, and try to

         25  speak to some points that have been brought up.
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          2            The IBZs that were mapped in our areas

          3  were done so because it's extremely dense, and we've

          4  only seen an increase in the number of businesses.

          5  Well over 60 percent since 1991.  And so, we we're

          6  at a point where we have a one percent vacancy rate

          7  in industrial real estate in Sunset Park, and a

          8  three percent in Red Hook and Gowanus.  So the

          9  Industrial Zones maps are the right places.  I would

         10  argue in the future, we would like to add some more

         11  areas to that.

         12                 So it's not that our areas are dying.

         13    In fact, that they are flourishing.  And I'm glad

         14  we brought up the social aspects of the industrial

         15  jobs.  They pay more.  They pay the right folks, and

         16  we need them for the social importance.  But I would

         17  like to point out the infrastructure operations that

         18  these companies do.  Particularly our working

         19  waterfront.  We barge thousands of tons of oil and

         20  cement, and garbage, and all this stuff that nobody

         21  really wants to think about, but has to happen. And

         22  if we want to grow sustainably over generations to

         23  come, we have to nurture a working waterfront, and

         24  look at our waterfronts as infrastructure, as we

         25  would a Brooklyn Bridge.
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          2                 Also, the loopholes that are going to

          3  be closed with the Industrial Employment Districts

          4  are extremely important, and we really want you to

          5  pass this now, and we want you to pass it in the IBZ

          6  maps.  The loopholes like the hotel.  Industrial

          7  businesses cannot afford to compete on a per square

          8  foot basis of what a hotel can afford to compete

          9  with.  And similarly, the uses just don't mix.

         10                 So we very much encourage you to do

         11  this now, and to do it in the Industrial Business

         12  Zone areas.  It's very important to us.

         13                 So thank you so much.  We thank the

         14  Administration for creating the IBZs.  It's been

         15  something that us advocates have been waiting for

         16  for a long time.  And this would be an incredibly

         17  courageous and important step for the Council to

         18  take.  Thank you.

         19                 MR. SMITH: Hello.  My name is Ernie

         20  Smith, and I am the owner of Penn and Fletcher, a

         21  small, 20- year old embroidery manufacturing

         22  business in Long Island City.  I have 17 talented

         23  employees, who rely on my business for their

         24  livelihood.  And New York is the only city in my

         25  business, a very specialized business that exists in
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          2  the United State.  It's the crossroads of theater,

          3  interiors, and the fashion industries.  Our company

          4  does not attempt to do mass production embroider

          5  work.  That's all moved off- shore.  Our business is

          6  creating custom work, like the elaborate kimonos for

          7  movies like Memoirs of a Geisha.  Or costumes for

          8  Broadway shows, like Phantom of the Opera.  The

          9  largest section of our business is the work we do

         10  for interior designers.  Custom embroidered curtain

         11  borders, valances, bed covers, and wall coverings,

         12  are the things that are too large and too special to

         13  trust to oversees workrooms.  The overseas workrooms

         14  want to produce 30,000 one dollar items.  We produce

         15  one $30,000 item like the set of wall panels for the

         16  restaurant in Steve Wynn's newest Las Vegas Casino.

         17                 I support Resolution 141 as a step in

         18  stabilizing New York City's manufacturing community.

         19    Superstores, large offices, and hotels have no

         20  place in manufacturing districts.

         21                 Did you ever feel like someone was

         22  chasing you? Panic sets in.  I can tell you what

         23  it's like, because that's what I felt for years.  As

         24  a small manufacturer who was forced to move because

         25  of the changes in the temperament of the garment
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          2  manufacturing area during the dot.com craze, I can

          3  tell you what it's like to have to face the specter

          4  of moving.  For a manufacturer, moving is hell.

          5  Real estate speculation is more an enemy to me and

          6  my business than off- shore production.

          7                 Whatever can be done to protect solid

          8  manufacturing areas from the cancer of speculation,

          9  must be done quickly, or the self- fulfilling

         10  prophecy of "manufacturing is leaving the City" will

         11  come true, because the City continues to make

         12  decisions that encourages manufacturers to leave.

         13                 The Mayor's policy seems to be based

         14  on "trust me". He's a good man, and a good Mayor.

         15  But when it comes to a policy based on "trust me",

         16  all I can say is, I don't.

         17                 Thank you for letting me speak.

         18                 MR. DI MARINO: Thank you for the

         19  opportunity to speak here.  I'm here to represent my

         20  company, Linda Tool, and all the other small

         21  businesses in the area.  We started in 1952, and we

         22  existed from 1962 till 2004 on Carroll Street in

         23  Gowanus, an M1 zone alongside many residential

         24  properties.  In the late 1980s, one could see that

         25  things were changing in the manufacturing world.  As
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          2  time went on, it was apparent that the neighborhood

          3  that we operated in for so long, could no longer

          4  support us.  It served us well, but it was time to

          5  move on.  We relocated our facility in another M1

          6  zone in Red Hook, Brooklyn.  It was quite a

          7  financial load to put on a small business.  But the

          8  real estate pricing in M1 zone that had not yet been

          9  earmarked for residential use, allowed us to move.

         10  We did it with great success and a lot of help from

         11  the Southwest Brooklyn Development Corp.

         12                 This time, it was much more suitable

         13  to a business like ours.  We were surrounded by

         14  other like businesses.  Three years later, Red Hook

         15  has now become the "in" place to live, and real

         16  estate prices have soared.  Now, we are faced again

         17  with the possibility of residential encroachment.

         18                 The City's manufacturing sector

         19  cannot withstand what is going on today.  We are

         20  slowly, but surely being pushed out of existence by

         21  residential development.  We fully realize the

         22  Administration, and its policies on development, but

         23  it should not be towards residential development

         24  only.  The manufacturing sector needs a voice in

         25  this also.  We need permanent Industrial Business
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          2  Zones to be established and preserve what is left of

          3  manufacturing in New York.

          4                 The business I am in provides a vital

          5  service to many industries and it's process provides

          6  a good living to employees.  The salaries that are

          7  paid are on the high end of the scale, and the

          8  benefits package is more than generous.  People that

          9  work in this industry would be hard- pressed to find

         10  like- pay jobs in other fields.  Their talents can

         11  only applied in a manufacturing environment.  The

         12  City employees over 230,000 jobs in the

         13  manufacturing sector, at an average salary of

         14  $42,000, compared to $31,000 in retail.

         15                 The IBZ zones created are a great

         16  effort to maintain the manufacturing sector in the

         17  City, but the essence of the policy should be to

         18  strengthen manufacturing businesses.  They must be

         19  made permanent by creating the Industrial Employment

         20  Districts. These permanent districts would allow

         21  manufacturers to thrive and prosper for many years

         22  to come.  It is one of the only ways that we can let

         23  our manufacturer sector live.

         24                 MR. LEBECK: Thank you for allowing me

         25  to testify. My name is Kurt Lebeck.  I can give you
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          2  more of an example of one of these businesses

          3  affected.

          4                 My company, Cabezon Design Group, is

          5  a small, light manufacturer of architectural

          6  fixtures and furniture.  We make things like windows

          7  and doors, and conference tables.  We have been

          8  located in Clinton Hill, Brooklyn for about seven

          9  years.  We currently employ six New York City

         10  residents in the skilled positions, including

         11  bookkeepers, managers, fabricators, draftsmen,

         12  machinists, and helpers.  These are all skills that

         13  are learned now over many years, and are no longer

         14  taught in vocational schools. Some of my employees

         15  have been with me for more than five years.

         16                 Additionally, we convert hundreds of

         17  thousands of dollars worth of raw materials

         18  purchased locally into our finished products, as

         19  well as pay hundreds of thousands for various

         20  services locally, including everything from catering

         21  and accounting, to insurance, to other

         22  subcontractors.

         23                 While my business would like to

         24  maintain its proximity to our well- heeled clients

         25  in Manhattan, we cannot afford to expand in any
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          2  neighborhood close enough to make this a worthwhile

          3  investment.  When we look at property to buy, the

          4  prices are only logical if someone intends to

          5  convert the building to residences.

          6                 We have many competitors in the tri-

          7  state and in the country, whose rents and buildings

          8  cost much less than ours. Further, the cost of

          9  living for their employees allows many of these

         10  companies to pay 20 to 30 percent less than we have

         11  to.  We remain competitive only if we can stay close

         12  to our clients, proximity allows us to give our

         13  clients service they cannot otherwise get from

         14  manufacturers upstate or in Philadelphia.

         15                 Permanent enforceable zoning for

         16  industry would help us afford a new bigger building

         17  near the City.  We would add jobs at all levels, and

         18  be able to continue to teach these skills.  Our

         19  alternatives are to stagnate and eventually close

         20  our doors or move our shop further away from the

         21  City, and change the nature of our business to one

         22  requiring far fewer skilled workers.  Needless to

         23  say, without this resolution, New York City is only

         24  going to become more segregated and the cost of

         25  living is only going to increase.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 MR. FRIEDMAN: My name is Bob

          4  Friedman.  I represent Nulux, Inc.  Nulux

          5  manufactures architectural lighting equipment for

          6  museums, high end commercial spaces, and residences.

          7    Equipment conceived and manufactured at Nulux is

          8  prominent at the recent renovation of the Museum of

          9  Modern Art.  We supplied lighting for the Rubin

         10  Museum, which you should all see if you haven't, by

         11  the way.  We are currently producing products for

         12  the Mets and the Frick, as well as many other

         13  projects in and outside of New York. Nulux employs

         14  35 persons at its factory in Ridgewood, Queens,

         15  where the product is manufactured, essentially from

         16  scratch.

         17                 Nulux needs to be in New York City.

         18                 We make custom spotlighting systems

         19  on a one- project basis.  This requires close hands-

         20  on work with architects and others involved.

         21                 Nulux works in the medium of light.

         22  The effects of light cannot be experienced by e-

         23  mail or even teleconferencing. Nulux maintains a

         24  laboratory space in which a movable ceiling helps

         25  visiting clients visualize the lighting to be
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          2  installed in their future spaces.

          3                 Nulux is competing with the big boys,

          4  large conglomerates with far- flung resources.  We

          5  stay ahead by knowing what the lighting design

          6  community, highly concentrated in New York, is

          7  thinking.  And by drawing employees from that

          8  knowledge pool.

          9                 Nulux is very lucky to still exist.

         10  We were the sole tenant of a factory in Greenpoint.

         11  We had hoped to be able to purchase it someday.

         12  Instead, its value shot up from two million to seven

         13  million dollars overnight.  In March, 2005, we were

         14  given less than one year to vacate, and we had far

         15  less cash than we needed for this transition.

         16                 Searching for new quarters, we

         17  discovered even had we the time and the money, we

         18  could not get what we considered an appropriate

         19  lease period of ten to 15 years.  We soon realized

         20  landlords were all expecting residential development

         21  to rapidly increase the values of their property.

         22  Incidentally, we looked in Long Island City, in

         23  Williamsburg, in East Williamsburg, in East New

         24  York, in Red Hook.  We looked everywhere.  We even

         25  looked in New Jersey.  The period offered was five
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          2  years, and rarely seven. This is just not long

          3  enough to justify outfitting a factory and moving

          4  our heavy equipment.

          5                 Nulux had the good fortune to hold a

          6  right of first refusal on the building we occupy.

          7  With this right written in our lease contract, we

          8  were able to participate in the real estate

          9  machinations which soon nearly destroyed us.  We

         10  realized enough gain on the sale of our right to

         11  finance a move we essentially could not afford.

         12  Without this small stroke of luck, we would be out

         13  of business.

         14                 As it is, Nulux is still in the same

         15  jeopardy.  At our new facility in Ridgewood, our

         16  rent can be raised unreasonably after the seventh

         17  year.  We will have no rights to occupancy after the

         18  tenth, and our neighborhood shows strong signs of

         19  increased desirability for housing.

         20                 We seem to be caught in a loop.  In

         21  1990, Greenpoint was the logical place to open a

         22  factory.  Then, in less than a decade, it became the

         23  hot spot.  The real estate market has now led us to

         24  another factory building, in which, if the same

         25  pattern holds, we would be forced to move again.
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          2                 It's clear that permanent enforceable

          3  zoning is needed to keep manufacturing and

          4  manufacturing jobs in New York City.  At a time in

          5  history when we have too many dead- end jobs in fast

          6  food stores and chain stores, manufacturing

          7  represents a robust alternative for our diverse

          8  workforce, and keeps valuable skills here.

          9                 Incidentally, there is an article

         10  about Nulux, that came out in the Daily News today.

         11  I had given it to you, I guess. And I want to

         12  mention, we're big fans of ITAC, who helped us

         13  through this difficult process, and do, on an

         14  ongoing basis.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

         16                 MR. FLICKINGER: Good morning.  It is

         17  a pleasure to be here.  I've really enjoyed the

         18  hearing, and I appreciate all the hard work you're

         19  doing on this resolution.

         20                 My name is Charles Flickinger.  And I

         21  am the owner and founder of Flickinger Glassworks,

         22  which is located in Red Hook, Brooklyn.  And I

         23  founded it 20 years ago.  I had started with 200

         24  square feet in Parkslope, and then 800 square feet

         25  in Williamsburg, and then I've been in Red Hook
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          2  since 1989, where I have 7,000 square feet.  We have

          3  12 employees, average salary of $43,000 a year, and

          4  we do projects  --  we do custom glass bending

          5  there.  We have four ovens, 6,000 steel molds, and

          6  we've done projects such as the cast glass panels

          7  for the newly restored Waldorf.  We did the clock

          8  faces for the Information Booth at Grand Central,

          9  and we did the bank glass panels for the Borough

         10  Hall in Brooklyn.

         11                 There are many other vendors and

         12  customers in my neighborhood in Red Hook.  There's

         13  Pier Glass, that does glass blowing.  There's Thomas

         14  Tish, who does wheel engraving.  There's Royal and

         15  Harris Glass, that both do outside glazing and

         16  storefronts.  And Carvart's, that does a sand

         17  etching.  And we all need a place to work, and we

         18  all have commiserate, we all have felt very

         19  vulnerable over the years.

         20                 I strongly support the creation of

         21  this Industrial Employment District, which will

         22  foster industrial growth, by discouraging non-

         23  industrial uses, such as box stores and hotels

         24  within the IBZs.

         25                 My 23- year old son, Nathan, is a
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          2  furniture designer, and wood worker.  And he is

          3  beginning a career of making a living with his

          4  hands, just as I did 30 years ago.  Nate just rented

          5  his first workshop in Williamsburg, which is 82

          6  square feet.  And I'm asking  --  you know, will

          7  there be room for him to grow his business?  I know,

          8  it's small isn't it?  I just saw it today.  It's the

          9  size of this table.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Is that a closet?

         11    You know --

         12                 MR. FLICKINGER: It's not unusual.

         13  The Industrial Business Zoning, Industrial

         14  Employment Districts are important now, but even

         15  important later, for generations of artisans who

         16  will need workspace in the future.  I thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

         18                 Next panel, Joseph Ferrara; Hasan

         19  Trosclair; Flora Liu; Oliver Lednicer.  It gets

         20  pronounced the way it's spelled.

         21                 MR. FERRARA: Good afternoon.  My name

         22  is Joseph Ferrara, and I am Vice President and

         23  General Counsel of a company called Ferrara Brothers

         24  Building Materials Corp.  As it's name implies, it's

         25  a family- owned business.  It was started by my
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          2  grandfather and father, and four uncles back in

          3  1969.  And we produce and deliver ready- mixed

          4  concrete to many major private and public

          5  construction projects.  The biggest project we're

          6  supplying concrete for right now is the New York

          7  City Water Tunnel.  Water Tunnel Number Three.

          8  We've supplied the last two segments.  This current

          9  segment is supposed to be completed in about five

         10  years.

         11                 We started our business in 1969, in

         12  Liberty Avenue in Ozone Park.  And it was an inland

         13  plant, and we looked around at our competitors, and

         14  most of our more well- heeled competitors were on

         15  the water.  And the reason concrete plants are on

         16  the water, and water is necessary to be successful

         17  in this business, is because barge deliveries of raw

         18  materials like sand and stone are essential.  One

         19  barge is equivalent to 40 trucks.  So in the early

         20  70s, my father and uncles looked around.  They found

         21  a piece of property on Hoyt Street and Fifth Street,

         22  where nobody wanted to go, and was kind of desolate.

         23    And they found this wonderful piece of abandoned

         24   --  I think it was owned by ConEd, or Brooklyn

         25  Union Gas  --  and put up a concrete plant.  And
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          2  today, that plant remains our busiest plant.  We

          3  supply probably 30 or 40 percent of all the concrete

          4  in Manhattan from that plant.  Probably about 80

          5  percent of the concrete needed for Ground Zero, and

          6  in the written handout, you'll see, there was an

          7  article in Engineering News Records about the demand

          8  for concrete.

          9                 And when we were in Ozone Park,  --

         10  it's a good thing they bought that property in

         11  Brooklyn, because when we were in Ozone Park, our

         12  plant bordered a residential area, and the neighbors

         13  you know, complaints up the ying yang, and

         14  eventually, forced us out of that neighborhood.  And

         15  we actually bought another piece of property in

         16  College Point, on the water, and you know  --

         17                 So we've encountered the obstacles of

         18  a business trying to run in a properly zoned area.

         19  And we commend and applaud this Committee, and the

         20  Council, for recognizing the urgent and compelling

         21  need to legalize, and have assurance of a future.

         22                 I last argued about our Brooklyn

         23  plant, because we're in the twilight zone.  We're in

         24  what's called the "ombudsmen" zone.  To me, that's

         25  code words for "your days as business is numbered".
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          2  So, hopefully, maybe through this legislation  --

          3  Everyday, I go to our Brooklyn plant a couple times

          4  a month, and every time I go, our employees say,

          5   "Hey boss, what's going on with our property?"

          6  Maybe with this legislation, I could tell them,

          7   "Don't worry, you have a future".

          8                 We started with six employees.  We

          9  now have over 125 employees, 86 of whom live in New

         10  York City.  Our average compensation is over

         11  $87,000.  It's not a bad blue- collar job.  And they

         12  all live and spend, and work and play in New York

         13  City.  And hopefully, they can continue to do that.

         14  Thank you.

         15                 MS. LIU: Good afternoon.  And thank

         16  you for having me here to testify in support of the

         17  Resolution 141.  My name is Flora Liu.  On behalf of

         18  my company, called Twin Marquis.  Twin Marquis is a

         19  minority- certified food manufacturing company

         20  located in East Williamsburg within both North

         21  Brooklyn Empire Zone and City Industrial District

         22  Zone.  Since 1992, Twin Marquis has had a positive

         23  impact on the East Williamsburg area, by adding some

         24  100 new jobs and making significant amounts of

         25  investments to the community.  More excitingly, we
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          2  will expand to a 75,000 square feet, three- story

          3  industrial building located in the same area, by the

          4  end of this year.  The renovation project, pertained

          5  to convert and abandon building to a completely

          6  facilitated manufacturing plant, costing over $1.5

          7  million in construction will allow us to double our

          8  current productivity, and increase additional 80 new

          9  jobs by 2009.  Meanwhile, our current manufacturing

         10  plant will be reserved and further renovated to

         11  increase the production space.

         12                 Among our current 110 employees, 95

         13  percent are immigrants, and 99 percent are residents

         14  of New York City.  For most employees, as well as

         15  our CEO, Terry Tang, New York City is the first

         16  place we resided after coming to the United States.

         17  We have been living here since then.  This is where

         18  we like to work, grow, and expand.  But what if we

         19  had no choice?  Residential development has been

         20  skyrocketing in the recent years, and real estate

         21  prices have reached record highs, more and more

         22  industrial properties have been illegally converted

         23  to residential purpose, the residential areas become

         24  more and more scarce.

         25                 All of this has discouraged us to
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          2  continue our expansion in the City.  We need a new

          3  zoning plan to help stabilize the real estate

          4  market.  We need the Industrial Business Zone to be

          5  permanent and strongly enforced, to prevent any

          6  illegal residential conversion in the dense

          7  industrial areas.  We need a stabilized and

          8  fostering environment where we can be confident to

          9  plan for our long- term investment in the City.

         10                 Manufacturing jobs in the New York

         11  City has fallen since 1990s.  Twin Marquis has

         12  proudly to maintain our steady growth in the

         13  specialty food manufacturing sector.  There are

         14  something the City government can do to help save

         15  our declining manufacturing jobs.  Industrial

         16  Employment District is the way we feel that can save

         17  the future of the City manufacturing industry. Thank

         18  you.

         19                 MR. TROSCLAIR: Good afternoon Council

         20  Members.  My name is Hasan Trosclair.  I'm

         21  representing Architectural Grille, which designs

         22  custom and perforated grills, much like the ones you

         23  see that line the Council room here.  I'm actually

         24  an employee of this company, and I've very grateful

         25  for what they have done.  And I'm soley in favor of
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          2  the resolution, because it creates growth. I live in

          3  the immediate area of the Gowanus in Red Hook and

          4  Sunset Park and everything.  And I see what's going

          5  on. I see the residential boom.  And also familiar

          6  with the industrial parks and everything.  I think

          7  this is a very, very good thing to have, because it

          8  promotes employment within the communities, and it

          9  gives our inner- City folk a chance to survive.

         10  That other things just don't you know, seem to do.

         11  So I think it's a very, very strong proposal that

         12  you know, needs to be looked at and make sure that

         13  everything is in place.

         14                 You know, I'm totally for it.  Soley

         15  as an employee. And as someone who wants to stay in

         16  New York and grow here.  You know.  A lot of us

         17  don't have college degrees, and they you know, don't

         18  have parents who are filthy rich.  We just really

         19  have to go out there and do it with our hands.  And

         20  these manufacturing jobs provide that.  And I think

         21  this is a very, very good thing.  We should, you

         22  know, look into the zoning.

         23                 MR. LEDNICER: My name is Oliver

         24  Lednicer.  Chairman of the Manufacturers Association

         25  of New York City.  We represent over 300
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          2  manufacturers, who hire anywhere from 15 employees

          3  to 100 employees.  I'd like to thank you for this

          4  opportunity to talk to you.

          5                 I don't think I can speak more

          6  eloquently about how important manufacturing jobs

          7  are than my predecessor just spoke. So I'd like to

          8  divert from my notes for a minute and share with you

          9  three stories of our members.

         10                 The first member is a company of over

         11  110 employees. Started in 1930 in New York City.

         12  Grew.  They now have 110 employees.  And they're

         13  growing at the rate of about 15 to 20 percent a

         14  year.  They had to expand.  They looked throughout

         15  the five boroughs for property.  It was very

         16  difficult to find what they were looking for.  They

         17  finally did find a building that they were looking

         18  for.  They obtained excellent incentives from both

         19  the State and the City.  The only problem was that

         20  the building that they finally did find, they could

         21  not be assured that the zoning would not change in

         22  that area.  They are now in Edison, New Jersey, with

         23  110 jobs.  This happened before the IBZ zones were

         24  drawn.

         25                 The second company is a much smaller
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          2  company in Brooklyn.  Their factory was sold.  The

          3  building was sold for residential development.

          4  Again, they looked all over New York. They finally

          5  found a property in a Empire zone, which in the

          6  meantime had become an IBZ zone.  Again, they got

          7  excellent City incentives, State incentives, they

          8  stayed.  This was after the IBZ zones were drawn.

          9  Unfortunately, I cannot  --  Ms. Sears is not here,

         10  because now, I'd like to address the question of why

         11  can't we wait, as the Administration suggested, to

         12  pass the present resolution.

         13                 The third company right now has 110

         14  employees.  They too are expanding.  They're looking

         15  for space.  They have found buildings but they're

         16  not at all sure that the zoning will be protected.

         17  I'm afraid I have to say this in this Council

         18  chamber, when somebody says, well, we're going to

         19  study it.  Businessmen very often  --  and business

         20  ladies  --  very often look with the very skeptical

         21  eye at politicians.  And they're not always trustful

         22  when the politicians say, "We'll study it.  Don't

         23  worry.  Things will work out".  It's very, very

         24  expensive to move a factory.  It's capital

         25  intensive.  Business people don't operate on "Don't
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          2  worry. It will work out".

          3                 We strongly suggest the adoption of

          4  this resolution. Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.  And

          6  my only comment to what you said is, I agree with

          7  you 100 percent.  When a politician says, "We'll

          8  study it", we're in trouble.

          9                 Next panel.  We have a representative

         10  of the Garment Industry Development Corporation;

         11  somebody from GMDC; Marisa Bowe, from NAG; and Eva

         12  Hanhardt.  Okay.  Daniel Scully, from Tully.

         13                 MS. ABOULFADL: Good afternoon.  Thank

         14  you for the opportunity to testify.  My name is

         15  Magda Aboulfadl.  Yes.  Yes. Okay.  My name is Magda

         16  Aboulfadl.  And I am the Enforcement Project Manager

         17  at the Garment Industry Development Corporation.

         18  GIDC.  GIDC is a nonprofit organization that

         19  supports the New York City apparel industry.  We are

         20  also the industrial ombudsman in the Manhattan

         21  Garment District.  New York City's largest

         22  manufacturing sector, the apparel industry, plays a

         23  vital role in the City's economy, employing over

         24  100,000 City residents, including 35,000 production

         25  workers.
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          2                 GIDC is here today to strongly

          3  support the establishment of Industrial Employment

          4  Districts.  You've heard a lot about real estate

          5  uncertainty.  I think you get it, so I won't repeat

          6  that.  I would just say that the apparel

          7  manufacturing sector is no exception.  As we know,

          8  from talking to dozens and dozens and dozens of

          9  apparel factories.

         10                 In order to address this real estate

         11  uncertainty, GIDC believes that strengthening the

         12  current Industrial Business Zones through the

         13  creation of enforceable zoning, as proposed by the

         14  legislation before you, is essential.  GIDC has

         15  first- hand experience in enforceable zoning,

         16  because the heart of the Midtown Manhattan Garment

         17  District is covered by special overlay zoning that

         18  was written to enhance the area's viability as a

         19  garment district.  Although the Manhattan Garment

         20  District would not be affected by the Industrial

         21  Employment District legislation, it's an important

         22  case study in the crucial role that zoning plays in

         23  decreasing real estate uncertainty, and retaining

         24  industrial jobs.

         25                 I've included with my written
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          2  testimony, an article from Crain's  --  a recent

          3  article from Crain's  --  that connects the special

          4  zoning to the retention of the apparel businesses in

          5  the Garment District.  But I can tell you now, very

          6  briefly, that the zoning works by moderating, not

          7  preventing, specific commercial uses that tend to

          8  crowd out industrial uses.

          9                 Today, there are still over 200

         10  apparel factories in the Manhattan Garment District,

         11  in spite of a decade of non enforcement of the

         12  zoning.  This suggests that the zoning was respected

         13  to some extent, even when it wasn't enforced.

         14                 As of last year, GIDC has been

         15  responsible for enforcing this special Garment

         16  District zoning.  We now understand, a year later,

         17  how much persistence and vigilance enforcement

         18  requires.  But we are not complaining.  We greatly

         19  appreciate having zoning to enforce.  Because

         20  without that zoning as leverage, the apparel

         21  manufacturing tenants we serve would probably

         22  already have been displaced from the Garment

         23  District.  As it is, in the Garment District, demand

         24  for manufacturing space exceeds supply.  The special

         25  zoning was essential.
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          2                 Industrial Employment Districts are

          3  directly relevant to GIDC's mission, because

          4  Manhattan is not the only borough with apparel

          5  factories.  Over 250 of New York's cut and sew

          6  factories are located in what are now Industrial

          7  Business Zones. In particular, Sunset Park, Long

          8  Island City, and Greenpoint/Williamsburg.  Cut and

          9  sew factories in three IBZs alone employ 3,500

         10  people.

         11                 And just to reiterate that Industrial

         12  Business Zones were a good step, but they need

         13  enforcement zoning for the long term horizon.  Thank

         14  you for your time.

         15                 MR. PARKHILL: Hi.  My name is Paul

         16  Parkhill.  I'm from GMDC, not GIDC.  It's the

         17  Greenpoint Manufacturing and Design Center.  We're

         18  about a 15- year old nonprofit organization that

         19  develops industrial property in North Brooklyn.  To

         20  date we've done five projects, which encompass about

         21  600,000 square feet of space, and we have about 100

         22  tenants.  Woodworkers, metal spinners, set

         23  fabricators, kind of a  --  food manufacturers, it

         24  runs the gamut.

         25                 In the 16 months since the rezoning
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          2  of Greenpoint and Williamsburg, GMDC has seen its

          3  waiting list for industrial space increase from

          4  about 20 names to more than 70.  Current demand for

          5  industrial space is intense throughout the entire

          6  City, as manufacturers and creative industries have

          7  been squeezed out by a variety of competing uses

          8  willing to pay premium for real estate. You've heard

          9  this all day.  This squeeze has profound negative

         10  impacts on New York's overall economic vitality, and

         11  its ability to employ its low- income citizens in

         12  good- paying jobs.

         13                 Last year, the Council demonstrated

         14  that it can play a critical leadership role on this

         15  issue.  As an outgrowth of the

         16  Greenpoint/Williamsburg rezoning, the City Council

         17  created two new funding sources, totaling $24

         18  million to help relocate impacted industrial

         19  businesses, create   --  help manufacturers create

         20  greener practices, and assist nonprofits acquire

         21  property for industrial rehabilitation.  Using an

         22  allocation from the Council's $20 million Industrial

         23  Acquisition Fund, GMDC is currently in contract on a

         24  building that will represent our sixth project, a

         25  72,000 square foot facility in East Williamsburg
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          2  that is within the IBZ.  We estimate that upon

          3  completion, the project will house another 25

          4  businesses, employing about 110 people, virtually

          5  all of whom will live in New York City.  This

          6  project would not have been feasible without the

          7  Council's leadership and support, and we'd like to

          8  take this opportunity to thank you all.

          9                 Industrial Employment Districts,

         10  which should be mapped to correspond with the new

         11  IBZ boundaries, represent the next critical step

         12  towards ensuring that productive jobs and creative

         13  businesses have a future in New York City.  While

         14  residential pressures have certainly been the most

         15  destabilizing influence on manufacturing zones,

         16  there's no question that uses such as big box

         17  retail, hotels, and other transient accommodations,

         18  waste transfer stations, and the like, can also

         19  adversely impact the ability of productive

         20  businesses to conduct normal operations and compete

         21  in the real estate market.

         22                 While no one is suggesting a blanket

         23  ban on such uses in M zones, the proposed

         24  legislation creates a special permitting process

         25  that will help ensure that communities have a voice
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          2  in keeping speculation and industrial displacement

          3  in check.           The recent willingness of the

          4  Department of City Planning to adopt inclusionary

          5  housing text as part of two major rezoning

          6  initiatives suggests that the City is at long last

          7  willing to look at land use and zoning in a broader

          8  context of social and economic policy.  We believe

          9  that writing Industrial Employment Districts

         10  directly into the zoning resolution will help ensure

         11  that the policy priorities that exemplified by the

         12  Mayor's Office of Industrial Manufacturing and

         13  Businesses are codified.

         14                 That's basically it.  Thanks very

         15  much.

         16                 MS. BOWE: Hi.  My name is Marisa

         17  Bowe.  And for the last four years, I've been the

         18  Economic Development Coordinator of NAG, which is a

         19  grassroots, not- for- profit environmental justice

         20  and community planning group in Williamsburg, in the

         21  North Side.

         22                 Since 1994, NAG has advocated for the

         23  people who live and work in North Brooklyn.  Our

         24  approach is guided by the principal that our entire

         25  community is entitled to participate in decision
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          2  making affecting our neighborhood.  And we're an

          3  example of a residential area that actually wanted,

          4  and wants to keep industrial activity in the

          5  neighborhood.  So it isn't always the case that the

          6  residents oppose it.

          7                 NAG has fought, and continues to

          8  fight to preserve viable industrial and artisanal

          9  jobs and for development strategies that maintain

         10  neighborhood character.  This work, done in

         11  partnership with many other local community groups,

         12  is based on the Greenpoint and Williamsburg

         13  Waterfront 197- a Plans, which NAG helped

         14  coordinate.

         15                 NAG staff were members of the

         16  Community Board's Rezoning Task Force Economic

         17  Development Subcommittee, which outlined the ways in

         18  which City Planning's rezoning changes would

         19  endanger local industry.  These recommendations were

         20  ignored.  And a survey we completed for the Mayor's

         21  Industrial Office this Summer, confirmed what we

         22  knew would happen, and already knew was happening,

         23  that dozens of thriving North Brooklyn businesses

         24  are already in the process of being displaced.

         25                 These are some statistics from the
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          2  survey that we did.  Nearly 60 percent of the firms

          3  rent their spaces, and are therefore, especially

          4  vulnerable for displacement.  Thirty- six percent

          5  told us that they wished to expand their facilities,

          6  by an aggregate total of close to half a million

          7  square feet within the next three years.  Most firms

          8  seeking to expand stress that they would also like

          9  to be able to hire more employees.  Currently,

         10  neighborhood businesses surveyed, just in the North

         11  Side, employ 1,638 workers full time, and an

         12  additional 178 part time.  Not a single business in

         13  the recently rezoned MX areas expect to have its

         14  lease renewed.

         15                 The community has repeatedly stated

         16  its wish to preserve these jobs.  The City's

         17  rezoning put a stake through the heart of many local

         18  companies.  We're confident that we represent the

         19  community's wishes when we advocate the adoption of

         20  the IEB designation in Brooklyn Community Board One.

         21  Post rezoning, we have so little manufacturing land

         22  left, that the Bushwick Inlet in East Williamsburg

         23  industrial areas need to be preserved for industry

         24  exclusively.  Thank you.

         25                 MR. HINDY: I'll start.  I'm Steve
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          2  Hindy.  I'm founder and President of Brooklyn

          3  Brewery.  And we're located North 11th Street and

          4  Wyeth Avenue in Williamsburg, right on the border of

          5  Williamsburg Greenpoint.

          6                 I do not think the rezoning was a bad

          7  thing.  I think it was a good thing.  But I am

          8  concerned about the future of industrial businesses

          9  in the North Side of Brooklyn.  And the reason is,

         10  in the past, zoning was not really enforced in our

         11  area. And so, we had many residential and artists

         12  cum residential conversions around us, and they were

         13  very threatening.  And they also drove up the rents.

         14    And so, we're hoping that the current zoning will

         15  be enforced, and we think that this proposal to

         16  strengthen industrial districts is needed.

         17                 The reason is, I would like to expand

         18  my business right now.  And we would go  --  we

         19  would like to go from about 75,000 square feet to

         20  double that.  All of the contiguous properties, to

         21  my property, are unwilling to rent to us, or sell to

         22  us, at a reasonable rate, because they all believe

         23  that they're going to be able to land a whole foods

         24  or you know, some sort of supermarket, which is

         25  needed in our area.  But no one really believes that
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          2  the zoning is going to hold.

          3                 So I think any proposal to strengthen

          4  protections for industry is warranted.  Thank you.

          5                 MS. KALICK: Hi.  Thank you to Melinda

          6  Katz for initiating this critical legislation, and

          7  for Tony Avella, for presiding over these important

          8  hearings.  This bill is so paramount to the future

          9  of my business, that I have come to testify at the

         10  busiest time of year for us.  It's Roshashana, and

         11  we make rugelach.

         12                 My name is Erica Kalick, and I'm the

         13  Founder and Owner of Erica's Rugelach and Baking

         14  Company, a wholesale producer of gourmet rugelach

         15  and fancy cookies.  And neighbor to Steve.  We are

         16  located in the Greenpoint section of Brooklyn, and

         17  employ ten full time workers, scores of independent

         18  contractors, and purchase our ingredients from

         19  suppliers based in all five boroughs.  Erica's

         20  Rugelach and Baking Company can be found in all the

         21  top specialty stores throughout New York City, as

         22  well as major food venues across the country.

         23                 The success of my business depends on

         24  quick access to my demanding customer base.  In

         25  particular, the food manufacturing industry
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          2  literally feeds New Yorkers.  Without our bread,

          3  bagel, cake, cookie makers, and creative chefs close

          4  by, we would pay higher prices and lose the spicy,

          5  sophisticated flavor that makes New York and

          6  unparalleled smorgasbord for its residents, as well

          7  as an international culinary tourist destination.

          8                 The "Made in Brooklyn: Stamp carries

          9  considerable credibility and status in the marketing

         10  of our product, whose lineage dates back to the

         11  bubbie's Jewish grandmothers, who emigrated from

         12  Eastern Europe and settled in the heart of Kings

         13  County.  My great Aunt Pearl and grandmother Esther

         14  both lived in Brooklyn, and it is from them that I

         15  carry on this old world tradition.

         16                 That tradition is now being

         17  threatened by the encroachment of developers and

         18  landlords who have not a care for the concerns of

         19  the collective welfare of small business owners and

         20  long time residents.  These valuable enterprises

         21  have a profound effect on precious neighborhoods and

         22  the economic health and wealth of this great and

         23  ethnically diverse City.  There are 11,500

         24  industrial companies that generate over 230,000 jobs

         25  in New York City.  By permanent enforceable zoning,
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          2  industrial manufacturers will be able to accomplish

          3  many good things.

          4                 One, the bill would bring stability

          5  to the places where we produce our products, this

          6  making it possible for small businesses to grow,

          7  expand, and reinvest in their own enterprises as

          8  well as the communities in which they are based.

          9                 Two, industrial jobs would be

         10  stabilized, and communities strengthened.  We want

         11  to stay in New York City, where the labor force is

         12  strong and well trained.

         13                 And easy access to markets.

         14                 Four, this legislation would last

         15  beyond Mayor Bloomberg's term in office, and would

         16  secure the future of all of our valuable businesses.

         17                 After all, does New York City want to

         18  become one giant shopping mall, with plastic

         19  products shipped in from China, and unhealthy,

         20  tasteless fast food chains where only the wealthy

         21  can afford luxury condominiums that pock mark the

         22  landscape? Incorrect land use can only result in

         23  people abuse, and a diminished quality of life for

         24  us all.

         25                 I have moved Erica's Rugelach and
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          2  Baking Company four times.  That is too much.  I

          3  really want to stay here.  Please pass the bill and

          4  preserve a just, free market economy in New York

          5  City.  Thank you so much.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Mr. Chair, the

          7  staff has recommended a site visit to the Brooklyn

          8  Brewery, and I recommend one to the rugelach

          9  factory, if that's all right.

         10                 MR. ELBOGEN: Good morning.  My name

         11  is Nathan Elbogen.  I'm Principle of XO Projects,

         12  Inc., a planning and development firm focusing on

         13  industrial and cultural property development, mostly

         14  in Brooklyn, and elsewhere.

         15                 I'm here to testify in support of the

         16  New York City Council Resolution Number 141, to

         17  establish Industrial Employment Districts in

         18  existing manufacturing districts, and specifically

         19  to ask that it includes the Industrial Business Zone

         20  boundaries known as IBZs established last year by

         21  the Mayor's Office.

         22                 Establishing the IBZs was a good

         23  beginning in addressing the real estate needs of

         24  manufacturing and other industrial businesses in the

         25  City.  But IBZs, as they are now, still don't assure
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          2  that property within those zones are to be dedicated

          3  to industrial and manufacturing businesses when

          4  large scale retail stores, hotels, and other non-

          5  industrial uses are allowed.  Many of those non-

          6  industrial uses currently permitted in certain

          7  manufacturing districts and IBZs if not restricted,

          8  will undermine the main purpose of the Mayor's IBZ

          9  program.

         10                 I have developed the old American Can

         11  factory, a 130,000 square foot industrial and

         12  cultural complex at the heart of the Gowanus

         13  industrial neighborhood.  Once housed a handful of

         14  very large open spaces, which has been redeveloped

         15  to accommodate and incubate many small companies and

         16  individuals engaged in creative industries, such as

         17  lighting, jewelry, and ceramics fabrication, along

         18  with a apparel production, silk screening, and

         19  printing, among others.  In the last three years

         20  alone, approximately 100 people have begun to work

         21  at the old American Can factory, most having been

         22  pushed out of buildings where landlords sought

         23  unaffordable rents, or who sold to developers aiming

         24  to convert those properties to non- industrial uses.

         25                 My company, along with partners who
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          2  have in the past years, developed millions of square

          3  feet of industrial space in Brooklyn, would be

          4  excited to develop new industrial buildings in the

          5  Gowanus area, for design and industry similar to

          6  that of the old American Can factory.  But this is

          7  not possible at this point, as buildings and

          8  properties are being hoarded for, or already slated

          9  for residential or large retail projects.

         10                 Directly across the street from the

         11  old American Can factory, lies a parcel of

         12  approximately four acres, that until recently, was

         13  home to three private industrial businesses, which

         14  was acquired by a multi- national chain, which has

         15  begun to develop the property into a large- scale

         16  regional supermarket, with hundreds of parking

         17  spaces, ultimately to serve only a consumer market,

         18  seeming not to be under- served by South Brooklyn's

         19  existing array of small and large markets.

         20                 This project avoided going for a

         21  special permit, and now is poised to eliminate a

         22  major parcel that should be dedicated to serve the

         23  needs of the growing design and industrial community

         24  that is growing rapidly in Brooklyn, and

         25  specifically in Gowanus. Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

          3                 We appreciate everybody that's come

          4  down to testify on this piece of legislation.

          5  Obviously, the Chair of the Committee will be

          6  meeting with the author and the Speaker's office to

          7  talk about moving ahead.  We will obviously take

          8  into account all the testimony that we've heard

          9  today.

         10                 And I want to thank everybody for

         11  coming.  And that closes this meeting of the

         12  Subcommittee on Zoning and Franchises.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you Mr.

         14  Chairman.

         15                 (The following written testimony was

         16  submitted for the record.)

         17

         18                 Written testimony of:

         19                 William Dubovsky

         20                 Chairman, Education and Technology

         21  Committee, Staten Island Chamber of Commerce.

         22                 Good Morning. My name is William

         23  Dubovsky and I am a member of the Staten Island

         24  Chamber of Commerce. I am currently the Chairman of

         25  the Chamber's Education and Technology Committee.
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          2                 The Staten Island Chamber has served

          3  the business interest of the borough for over 100

          4  years. Our members also are focused on issues that

          5  affect the needs of the community - such as

          6  transportation, environment, health care and

          7  technology. We are committed to making Staten Island

          8  a better place in which to live and work. That is

          9  why I am here today.

         10                 Monopolies are not good for business,

         11  and that thinking certainly applies to cable TV.

         12  Voting in favor of video choice is good for

         13  residents and businesses alike. When a consumer has

         14  a choice of provider, a business focuses on that

         15  consumer, on quality, on customer service and on the

         16  community in which it operates. Our members support

         17  fair competition.

         18                 And while I represent business, I am

         19  of course also a consumer. Having a choice of what

         20  my service provider is, just makes common sense for

         21  Staten Islanders. It will drive up the quality of

         22  programming, while also reducing costs to the

         23  consumer.

         24                 Many Staten Island businesses and

         25  residents are already enjoying Verizon's FiOS
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          2  telephone and data service. The expansion of FiOS to

          3  include television is the logical next step.

          4                 On behalf of the Chamber, I ask you

          5  to vote in favor of this Resolution and support

          6  video choice and competition. Thank you for your

          7  time.

          8

          9                 Written testimony of:

         10                 Vincent Lenza

         11                 Deputy Director, Staten island

         12  Economic Development Corporation

         13                 Good Morning. I am Vincent Lenza,

         14  Deputy Director of the Staten Island Economic

         15  Development Corporation. SIEDC serves the Staten

         16  Island business community as the leading advocate

         17  for economic development in the Borough.

         18                 Each year we provide services to

         19  thousands of businesses and community leaders. We

         20  are dedicated to enhancing a thriving Staten Island

         21  economy with a goal to improve the quality of life

         22  of all Staten Islanders.

         23                 What better way is there to bolster

         24  the economy than by promoting more competition- more

         25  options- for businesses and residents?
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          2                 Competition in the cable television

          3  market will bring better service, better quality,

          4  better programming and better pricing. It also will

          5  stimulate new and innovative offerings.

          6                 As a business leader and advocate for

          7  economic development, I cast my vote any day for

          8  choice and competition- especially in an industry as

          9  important as the cable TV industry.

         10                 A vote for this Resolution is a vote

         11  for competition, choice an a healthier economy.

         12  Thank you.

         13

         14                 Written testimony of:

         15                 Valerie Oliver- Durrah

         16                 President, Neighborhood Technical

         17  Assistance Clinic

         18                 I'm Valerie Oliver- Durrah, president

         19  of the Neighborhood Technical Assistance Clinic.

         20                 We are base in Brooklyn and were

         21  founded in 1998 to help philanthropic individuals

         22  and organizations develop, support and maintain

         23  effective community- based and faith- based

         24  programs. Today, our practice has expanded to

         25  include non- profits that work to improve programs
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          2  in service- deprived neighborhoods.

          3                 We wholeheartedly support this cable

          4  franchise resolution. We believe Verizon's FiOS TV

          5  service can be a new resource for education and

          6  training.

          7                 We also believe it will benefit

          8  neighborhoods by providing alternative and

          9  competitive prices for cable TV especially for our

         10  seniors and those who live on restricted budgets.

         11                 It is a given that technology is the

         12  future for our communities, our residents and,

         13  especially, our youth. Delivering high- speed

         14  internet connectivity can make the difference

         15  between being on board the technology A express

         16  train or being left behind at the station waiting on

         17  the local C train.

         18                 You have a challenge before you put

         19  the delivery of technology on the fast track and

         20  into the hands of people who need it most right here

         21  in Brooklyn and throughout the City. I ask you to

         22  please support the cable franchise resolution as

         23  presented by Verizon. Thank you.

         24

         25                 Written testimony of:
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          2                 Katherine McConvey

          3                 Founder, KMM Telecommunications

          4                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          5  testify today. My name is Katherine McConvey; I am

          6  the founder of KMM Telecommunications, a minority-

          7  owned, NYC- based company. I came before this

          8  subcommittee today to lend my support for the

          9  franchise resolution now before you.

         10                 When I say my company had a hand in

         11  the fiber- to the- premises network that carries

         12  Verizon's FiOS TV, that's literally true. KMM

         13  provides material management and planning, cable

         14  cutting and distribution, same- day service for

         15  short interval fiber, and central office wire

         16  products. I am proud to tell you that KMM is part of

         17  the growing team of Verizon employees and vendors

         18  who are created the network of the future in New

         19  York City.

         20                 My business might not be here today

         21  without the mentoring and information- sharing

         22  Verizon provided when I started this minority/women-

         23  owned business 13 years ago. As a result, KMM

         24  employs 125 people and doe $45 million dollars in

         25  business with Verizon each year. We are here to stay
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          2  and excited about our future in New York City.

          3                 As a telecom business owner, it's an

          4  exciting time to be in this industry. The advances

          5  in technology are astounding, and the future

          6  opportunities are limitless. By approving this

          7  resolution, Verizon and others will continue to make

          8  substantive investments in their networks and

          9  provide opportunities and services that benefit our

         10  workers and all other New Yorkers.

         11                 Thank you for your consideration.

         12

         13                 Written testimony of:

         14                 Raymond Irerra

         15                 President, Queens Chamber of Commerce

         16                 Good day. My name is Raymond Irerra.

         17  I am the President of the Queens Camber of Commerce.

         18  The Chamber supports projects and public policy that

         19  advance the borough's business interests, economic

         20  development and community enrichment.

         21                 Being successful as a business today

         22  is very different than it was even a few years ago.

         23  How people live, where they live and how they want

         24  to do business is changing dramatically. To be

         25  successful, a business needs to meet all of those
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          2  consumer dynamics.

          3                 The business members that I represent

          4  are interested in finding new and better ways to run

          5  their operations and reach their diverse customer

          6  base. To that end, technology is a very powerful

          7  tool. Marketing, advertising and transacting sales

          8  over the Internet are on the rise- especially among

          9  younger people. That's why one of our recent

         10  seminars offered to our member focused on "Doing

         11  Business on the Internet".

         12                 What is considered high- speed data

         13  connections today will be seen slow- speed tomorrow.

         14  That's why businesses must keep pushing the

         15  technology envelope- staying innovative, competitive

         16  and meeting customer demands.

         17                 Choice and competition in the

         18  marketplace- in this case the cable industry- will

         19  help ensure the introduction of innovative services,

         20  advanced technologies, attractive pricing, enhanced

         21  programs and improved customer service.

         22                 On behalf of the Queens Chamber, I

         23  urge this Subcommittee to take the first step to

         24  ensure that there will be choice and competition

         25  when it comes to cable service providers. Thank you.
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          2

          3                 Written testimony of:

          4                 Phaedra Thomas

          5                 Executive Director, Southwest

          6  Brooklyn Industrial Development Corporation

          7                 Good Morning, I am Phaedra Thomas,

          8  Executive Director of the Southwest Brooklyn

          9  Industrial Development Corporation. Our organization

         10  is charged with providing business services to over

         11  2,200 companies in the Red Hook, Gowanus and Sunset

         12  Park neighborhoods of Brooklyn, New York. We also

         13  provide local residents employment placement and

         14  training services.

         15                 Most small businesses and residents

         16  in southwest Brooklyn have terrible broadband

         17  options. DSL is still not an option because our

         18  communities are too far from the Central Office and

         19  the copper infrastructure is under capacity and in

         20  need of replacement. Time Warner is available in

         21  residences but many of our businesses are located in

         22  multi- tenanted waterfront industrial buildings

         23  where there is no cable, and Time Warner will not

         24  brig the cable to these buildings. These tenants,

         25  which again are small businesses, are forced to have
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          2  nothing or purchase an expensive full or fractional

          3  T- 1.

          4                 Even for residents and businesses

          5  that can get a cable broadband connection, there is

          6  no competition and the rates are too expensive. 70%

          7  of Red Hook residents live in Public Housing where

          8  over 50% of the people live at or below the poverty

          9  level. Many of these residents, nearly all of whom

         10  have school- aged children in the house, cannot

         11  afford high- speed internet. We all know that there

         12  is a digital divide; Red Hook is a shameful example.

         13                 Small businesses that employ nearly

         14  20% of working Red Hook residents pay better wages

         15  than service sector jobs that threaten to replace

         16  them. These businesses must have the entire

         17  communication infrastructure spectrum that the

         18  bigger corporations have at their disposal and they

         19  must have affordable choices based on their needs.

         20  It is not fair that Cable is the only game in town.

         21                 We, businesses and residents alike,

         22  want the option to bundle our phone, television, and

         23  internet services together, and we need lower

         24  prices.

         25                 These Brooklyn communities need- and
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          2  deserve- a communications network second to none, as

          3  well as a real choice in cable television provider.

          4  Advanced telephone, internet and video services are

          5  critical to economic development, job development

          6  and personal development. Our Brooklyn communities

          7  should not ne left behind.

          8                 I ask you to support this resolution,

          9  and support its implementation in Red Hook,

         10  Brooklyn. Thank you.

         11                 Written testimony of:

         12                 Michael Burke

         13                 Director, Downtown Brooklyn Council

         14                 Good morning. My name is Michael

         15  Burke, Director of the Downtown Brooklyn Council

         16  which is a leading economic development advocacy

         17  organization dedicated to promoting the growth of

         18  Downtown Brooklyn.

         19                 The proposed franchise resolution

         20  will bring much needed competition to the highly

         21  monopolized cable television market. The resolution

         22  will allow companies such as Verizon, which is a

         23  committed business leader and employer in Downtown

         24  Brooklyn, to deliver the most advanced technology

         25  into the market. In the past, similar advancements
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          2  have encouraged a whole range of business

          3  opportunities, including start- up enterprises,

          4  work- form home businesses, telecommuting and more.

          5                 For these and other reasons, I ask

          6  that you approve this resolution. Thank you for the

          7  opportunity to voice the views of the Downtown

          8  Brooklyn Council.

          9

         10                 Written testimony of:

         11                 Kevin Alexander

         12                 Executive Director, Rockaway

         13  Development & Revitalization Corporation

         14                 Dear Committee Members, my name is

         15  Kevin Alexander and I am the Executive Director of

         16  the Rockaway Development & Revitalization

         17  Corporation. RDRC is a local development corporation

         18  that also serves as the coordinator for the Far

         19  Rockaway Empire Zone. Through our division of

         20  Business and Professional Services we offer a

         21  variety of business attraction, retention and

         22  business incentive programs to promote business and

         23  economic growth in the Rockaways.

         24                 Over the next several years, the

         25  Rockaways will increase its existing housing stock
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          2  by several thousand newly constructed market rate

          3  homes and several hundred thousand square feet of

          4  newly constructed commercial space as a result of

          5  the Arvene Renewal Plan.

          6                 We believe that one of the ways to

          7  draw new business opportunities, retain existing

          8  businesses such as Red Castle Bakeries, a 2006

          9  Crain's Small Business Award recipient (and

         10  homeowners) and keep the local economy healthy is by

         11  having a strong and competitive telecommunications

         12  infrastructure, including video services.

         13                 As the local community development

         14  corporation for the entire Rockaway Peninsula, RDRC

         15  knows that competition will bring access to new

         16  services, higher quality and customer service

         17  standards, employment opportunities, real capital

         18  investment to our community and lower pricing.

         19  Increased competition can only benefit our local

         20  economy.

         21                 On behalf of RDRC and the communities

         22  we serve, I ask you to support the video choice

         23  resolution.

         24                 Respectfully Submitted, Kevin W.

         25  Alexander, MPA, Executive Director.
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          2

          3                 Written testimony of:

          4                 Maryann McAleer

          5                 Director of Development, Queens

          6  Centers for Progress

          7                 Good Morning. My name is Maryann

          8  McAleer. I am the Director of Development for Queens

          9  Centers for Progress. The Center works to promote

         10  independent living for individuals with

         11  disabilities. Our services include education,

         12  therapy, job training, placement and other support

         13  services to help people with development

         14  disabilities lead richer and fuller lives.

         15                 Expediting competition in the cable

         16  marketplace will speed the delivery of

         17  communications and innovation. The constituency I

         18  represent- people with disabilities- rely heavily on

         19  new technologies to increase their independence and

         20  expand their capabilities. In many cases, they have

         21  mobility challenges, making it much more difficult

         22  to access information and other resources.

         23                 For people with disabilities,

         24  advanced technology is a necessity. Bringing high

         25  speed and interactive cable TV services right to the
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          2  home means improved communications and ready access

          3  to information, education and entertainment. This

          4  will provide new opportunities and enhancements for

          5  people with disabilities to lead a more independent

          6  and fuller life.

          7                 I ask you to please support video

          8  choice. Thank you.

          9

         10                 Written testimony of:

         11                 Dan Miner

         12                 Vice President, Long Island CITY

         13  Business Development Corporation

         14                 Good morning. My name is Dan Miner. I

         15  am Vice President of the Long Island City Business

         16  Development Corporation. Our local development

         17  corporation has been serving the LIC business

         18  community since 1979. We advocate for development

         19  that benefits our diverse commercial industrial,

         20  cultural and residential sectors. We work with the

         21  NYC Dept. Of Small Business Services and the Mayor's

         22  Office of Industrial & Manufacturing Businesses to

         23  provide services to business constituents in this

         24  area. Through our programs, we assist businesses in

         25  gaining and keeping their competitive edge by
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          2  staying informed, promoting their organization,

          3  lowering their costs, and taking advantage of

          4  technical support and individualized assistance

          5  available to them.

          6                 As an advocate for the business

          7  community, I urge you to support cable competition

          8  for two important reasons.

          9                 First, a business must keep its

         10  competitive edge by using the latest technology. The

         11  Internet has clearly changed the way we do business.

         12  Competition in the cable market will be an incentive

         13  for video providers to offer innovative services.

         14  Such services will enable businesses to more

         15  effectively reach and serve existing and potential

         16  customers in creative ways, and may lead to new

         17  educational and entertainment opportunities.

         18                 Second, as I mentioned, one of the

         19  things that LICBDC does is to help businesses find

         20  ways to lower their costs of doing business. We

         21  anticipate that competition is likely to mean not

         22  only new services, but also lower prices.

         23                 I ask you to support cable choice.

         24  Thank you.

         25
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          2                 Written testimony of:

          3                 Carole Wacey

          4                 Executive Director, MOUSE

          5                 Good afternoon. My name is Carole

          6  Wacey and I am the Executive Director of MOUSE,

          7  which is a non- profit organization that has been

          8  working with NYC's public school students to support

          9  the effective use of technology for teaching and

         10  learning. MOUSE students are trained in advanced

         11  computer skills to enable them to manage the

         12  technology infrastructure in the schools.

         13                 MOUSE supports the Franchise

         14  Resolution that is before you today. The Resolution

         15  provides an important opportunity for consumers and

         16  educators to realize the benefits of competition in

         17  the marketplace- choice and lower prices.

         18                 Verizon's investment it bring fiber-

         19  to- the- doorstep of all economic communities in NYC

         20  holds an unparalleled promise in bringing the

         21  digital divide in our public schools and in our

         22  disadvantaged communities. NYC's students and all

         23  residents benefit when provided with access to the

         24  digital opportunities of the 21st century.

         25                 The future success of our children is

                                                            138

          1  ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  dependent on how well we equip them for the

          3  knowledge- based economy that is so dependent on

          4  technology. State- of- the- art networks are the

          5  transport vehicles to information, knowledge and

          6  communications. Let's not miss the opportunity to

          7  ensure that everyone in all five boroughs of NYC can

          8  effectively participate in the digital revolution.

          9                 I urge you to support this

         10  Resolution. Thank you.

         11

         12

         13                 Written testimony of:

         14                 Helen H. Levine

         15                 Executive Vice President, Greater

         16  Jamaica Development Corporation

         17                 Good morning. I am Helen Levine,

         18  Executive Vice President of Greater Jamaica

         19  Development Corporation, a private not- for profit

         20  local development organization whose mission is to

         21  encourage and facilitate the economic recovery and

         22  revitalization of downtown Jamaica.

         23                 Grater Jamaica has been a business

         24  customer of Verizon and its predecessors since 1971.

         25  We have received strong and ongoing leadership on
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          2  our Board and financial support for our work to

          3  redevelop Jamaica over the last three decades.

          4  Verizon has been an excellent corporate citizen for

          5  us.

          6                 Greater Jamaica urges that you

          7  approve this resolution and endorse Verizon's

          8  application for a franchise. We believe that

          9  consumers and businesses will all benefit from

         10  greater choice and competition on the cable

         11  industry. Thank you.

         12

         13                 Written testimony of:

         14                 Moustafa Elshiekh

         15                 President, Downtown Real Estate

         16  Consulting Corporation

         17                 As Real Estate and Management Company

         18  I support the resolution now before this

         19  Subcommittee.

         20                 First, Investment in an advanced

         21  telephone, data and video network will position our

         22  borough for the future and help attract new

         23  consumers, residents, and businesses.

         24                 Second, introducing choice and

         25  competition in the cable TV marketplace and will
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          2  make Queens especially attractive place for cable TV

          3  viewers, and with many ethnic groups in Queens the

          4  most diverse in the nation- our residence would

          5  welcome additional in language programming.

          6                 Our consumers want choice, quality

          7  product, innovation, diverse programs and lower

          8  prices. The passage of this resolution is a step

          9  toward addressing those goals.

         10                 Thank you, Moustafa Elshiekh

         11

         12                 Written testimony of:

         13                 Sari Dickson

         14                 Director of Public Affairs for New

         15  York Hospital Queens

         16                 My name is Sari Dickson and I am the

         17  Director of Public affairs for New York Hospital

         18  Queens. New York Hospital Queens is a 439- bed

         19  community teaching hospital in Flushing, Queens. We

         20  provide both inpatient and outpatient services

         21  including a premier cardiac surgery program.

         22                 With the skyrocketing cost of health

         23  care, it is critical that we find innovative and

         24  cost effective ways to provide patient care.

         25                 Deployment of high- speed fiber
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          2  technology can open up new avenues to improve the

          3  delivery of health care services and contain costs.

          4  For example, such technology can facilitate home

          5  health care monitoring for chronic illnesses such as

          6  diabetes; diagnostic radiological and other video-

          7  based patient data could be instantaneously

          8  transmitted from one specialist physician to

          9  another; and urban medical specialty centers could

         10  conduct real time educational programs or provide

         11  patient care in rural areas over fiber optic video

         12  technology.

         13                 An investment in high- speed fiber

         14  network in New York City is an investment in

         15  healthcare services for New Yorkers.

         16                 Further, just as patients have a

         17  choice of doctors and hospitals, so should they have

         18  choices of video providers and programs.

         19                 I urge you to support this

         20  resolution. Thank you.

         21

         22                 Written testimony of:

         23                 Nancy O'Connell

         24                 Executive Director, The Associated

         25  Blind, Inc.
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          2                 Good morning. I am Nancy O'Connell,

          3  Executive Director of the Associated Blind, Inc.

          4                 Our organization is a resource

          5  clearinghouse for individuals who are blind or

          6  visually impaired, and the employers willing to hire

          7  them. We support this resolution for two key

          8  reasons.

          9                 We believe all New Yorkers should

         10  benefit from an open, fair, and competitive cable

         11  television marketplace.

         12                 Two: We strongly believe in the power

         13  of new networks like Verizon's new fiber- to- the

         14  premises network to provide education and job

         15  training through the promise of interactive

         16  services. We think this network has tremendous

         17  future value in helping all blind and visually

         18  impaired people realize their potential.

         19                 I thank you for your time and

         20  consideration and urge you to say yes to this

         21  resolution.

         22                 Sincerely, Nancy O'Connell, Executive

         23  Director, The Associated Blind, Inc.

         24

         25                 Written testimony of:
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          2                 Peter Koo

          3                 President, Flushing Chinese Business

          4  Association

          5                 My name is Peter Koo and I am the

          6  President of the Flushing Chinese Business

          7  Association located in Flushing, Queens. We

          8  represent many large and medium size businesses

          9  located in the area. I am here today to speak on

         10  competition in the cable TV sector. For the last 20

         11  years, delivering video service to our community has

         12  been controlled by one cable provider. Many of our

         13  members have seen the constant increase in prices.

         14  Verizon is known to have made significant

         15  investments in our community to upgrade its

         16  infrastructure with new fiber technology. The City

         17  Council should welcome Verizon's investment in

         18  advancing technology and its commitment to provide

         19  expanded programming, quality service and attractive

         20  prices.

         21                 Competition is what makes America

         22  great. It is time that the City of New York

         23  demonstrates its leadership by approving Verizon's

         24  request to provide cable competition in the greatest

         25  city in the world.
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          2                 Thank you, Peter Koo, President FCBA

          3

          4                 Written testimony of:

          5                 Edith M. Prentiss

          6                 Vice President of Legislative

          7  Affairs, Disabled in Action

          8                 President, 504 Democratic Club

          9                 My name is Edith Prentiss. I am the

         10  Vice President (Legislative Affairs) of Disabled in

         11  Action and President of the 504 Democratic Club. I

         12  would like to thank the Committee and especially the

         13  Chair, Council member Anthony Avella, for the

         14  opportunity to address the Committee.

         15                 People with disabilities are

         16  especially dependent on advanced technology to

         17  sustain our independence and enhance our quality of

         18  life. Through voice recognition technology, for

         19  example, people with sight impairment can

         20  communicate with anyone anywhere. Through motion

         21  recognition technology even people with severely

         22  restricted functionality can move a pointer with

         23  body movements to access information and communicate

         24  with others.

         25                 Our community's continued access to
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          2  the growing list of available technological services

          3  is dependent on continuing investment in next

          4  generation data and video technologies. Verizon's

          5  state- of- the- art network will benefit New

          6  Yorkers, including people with disabilities by

          7  introducing world class technologies- and a choice

          8  for consumers. Unfortunately, I don't expect to

          9  benefit from this until the antiquated copper and

         10  all the old overextended boxes in residential

         11  buildings are replaced. In Washington Heights, my

         12  phone speed is so slow (between 9000- 12000 bps),

         13  that my dial up often doesn't work. So you know DSL

         14  as well as cable is out of the question!

         15                 Choice is especially critical to

         16  people with disabilities, most of whom live on fixed

         17  limited incomes. If cable companies are allowed to

         18  provide telephone service, why can't phone companies

         19  offer TV? For the disability community the real

         20  issue is the cost of any service. Younger disabled

         21  New Yorkers, by virtue of being ineligible for EPIC

         22  and the disparate income levels of DRIE and SCRIE

         23  often has less income available for the non-

         24  essentials of life. I do consider DSL, cable and so

         25  forth a much lower fiscal priority than prescription
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          2  drugs and rent.

          3                 By approving this Resolution, you can

          4  expedite the opportunity for New Yorkers to take

          5  advantage of superior technologies and open up cable

          6  service to much needed competition.

          7                 As our elected officials, I urge you

          8  to vote favorably in support of this Resolution.

          9                 Thank you, again, for the opportunity

         10  to address the Committee.

         11

         12                 Written testimony of:

         13                 Andrew Albert

         14                 Executive Director, West Side Chamber

         15  of Commerce

         16                 Good morning. I am Andrew Albert,

         17  Executive Director of the West Side Chamber of

         18  Commerce, and I'd like to speak on the application

         19  concerning Verizon's ability to provide a broad

         20  cross section of communications products, including

         21  cable television.

         22                 Chamber of Commerce are the types of

         23  organizations that truly understand the value of

         24  choice. Our members are involved in all sorts of

         25  endeavors to bring local residents and visitors the
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          2  best they can offer in all types of products- and

          3  offering a choice in cable television products can

          4  only improve the offerings of all companies

          5  involved. Competition is always a good thing, and in

          6  case of cable- promises to bring innovative

          7  technologies and services to a field dominated by a

          8  single player.

          9                 In summary, the West Side Chamber

         10  hopes you will look favorably on Verizon's

         11  application to provide cable television and related

         12  services to New Yorkers. Not only should this

         13  healthy competition help keep prices down, but we

         14  anticipate lots of new services/packages will be

         15  brought to the marketplace. Thank you.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 12:25 p.m.)
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          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, JOAN GARCIA, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 19th day of September 2006.
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          9            I, JOAN GARCIA, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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